UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DE ALFENAS

Mikaela Lucinda de Souza

PRÓPOLIS ORGÂNICA BRASILEIRA NA PREVENÇÃO E TRATAMENTO DA MUCOSITE ORAL: ESTUDO *in silico* DE BIOMOLÉCULAS DESTA PRÓPOLIS COM ALVOS DA MUCOSITE ORAL

BRAZILIAN ORGANIC PROPOLIS IN THE PREVENTION AND TREATMENT OF ORAL MUCOSITIS: *in silico* STUDY OF BIOMOLECULES OF THIS PROPOLIS WITH ORAL MUCOSITIS TARGETS

-

Mikaela Lucinda de Souza

PRÓPOLIS ORGÂNICA BRASILEIRA NA PREVENÇÃO E TRATAMENTO DA MUCOSITE ORAL: ESTUDO *in silico* DE BIOMOLÉCULAS DESTA PRÓPOLIS COM ALVOS DA MUCOSITE ORAL

_

BRAZILIAN ORGANIC PROPOLIS IN THE PREVENTION AND TREATMENT OF ORAL MUCOSITIS: *in silico* STUDY OF BIOMOLECULES OF THIS PROPOLIS WITH ORAL MUCOSITIS TARGETS

Dissertação apresentada como parte dos requisitos para obtenção do título de Mestre em Ciências Biológicas pela Universidade Federal de Alfenas. Área de concentração: Biologia Celular, Molecular e Estrutural das Doenças Agudas e Crônicas.

Orientador: Prof.^a Dr.^a Lívia Máris Ribeiro Paranaiba Coorientador: Prof. Dr. Pedro Luiz Rosalen

Dados Internacionais de Catalogação-na-Publicação (CIP) Sistema de Bibliotecas da Universidade Federal de Alfenas Biblioteca Central – Campus Sede

Souza, Mikaela Lucinda de S729p Própolis orgânica brasileira na prevenção e tratamento da mucosite oral: estudo *in silico* de biomoléculas desta própolis com alvos da mucosite oral. / Mikaela Lucinda de Souza – Alfenas, MG, 2021. 72 f.: il. – Orientadora: Lívia Máris Ribeiro Paranaiba. Dissertação (Mestrado em Ciências Biológicas) – Universidade Federal de Alfenas, 2021. Bibliografia. 1. Simulação de Acoplamento Molecular. 2. Alvos moleculares. 3. Produtos Biológicos. 4. Neoplasias Bucais. 5. Biologia Computacional. I. Paranaiba, Lívia Máris Ribeiro. II. Título. CDD- 570

> Ficha Catalográfica elaborada por Marlom Cesar da Silva Bibliotecário-Documentalista CRB6/2735

MIKAELA LUCINDA DE SOUZA

PRÓPOLIS ORGÂNICA BRASILEIRA NA PREVENÇÃO E TRATAMENTO DA MUCOSITE ORAL: ESTUDO *in silico* DE BIOMOLÉCULAS DESTA PRÓPOLIS COM ALVOS DA MUCOSITE ORAL

A Banca examinadora abaixo-assinada aprova a Dissertação/Tese apresentada como parte dos requisitos para a obtenção do título de Mestra em Ciências Biológicas pela Universidade Federal de Alfenas. Área de concentração: Biologia Celular, Molecular e Estrutural das doenças agudas e crônicas.

Aprovada em: 29 de julho de 2021.

Profa. Dra. Lívia Maris Ribeiro Paranaíba Dias Instituição: Universidade Federal de Alfenas - UNIFAL-MG

Prof. Dr. Marcos Guilherme da Cunha Instituição: Universidade Estadual de Campinas - UNICAMP

Profa. Dra. Carine Ervolino de Oliveira Instituição: Universidade Federal de Alfenas - UNIFAL-MG



Documento assinado eletronicamente por **Livia Maris Ribeiro Paranaiba Dias**, **Professor do Magistério Superior**, em 29/07/2021, às 11:34, conforme horário oficial de Brasília, com fundamento no art. 6º, § 1º, do <u>Decreto nº 8.539, de 8 de outubro de</u> <u>2015</u>.



Documento assinado eletronicamente por **Marcos Guilherme da Cunha**, **Usuário Externo**, em 29/07/2021, às 11:44, conforme horário oficial de Brasília, com fundamento no art. 6º, § 1º, do <u>Decreto nº 8.539, de 8 de outubro de 2015</u>.



Documento assinado eletronicamente por **Carine Ervolino de Oliveira**, **Professor do Magistério Superior**, em 29/07/2021, às 12:49, conforme horário oficial de Brasília, com fundamento no art. 6º, § 1º, do <u>Decreto nº 8.539, de 8 de outubro de 2015</u>.



A autenticidade deste documento pode ser conferida no site <u>https://sei.unifal-mg.edu.br/sei/controlador externo.php?</u> <u>acao=documento conferir&id orgao acesso externo=0</u>, informando o código verificador **0565077** e o código CRC **3ECE7AEE**.

AGRADECIMENTOS

Aos professores Dr. Pedro Luiz Rosalen, Dr. Nelson José Freitas da Silveira, Dr. Tiago Henrique e à professora Dr.^a Lívia Máris Ribeiro Paranaíba, sem as suas orientações e dedicação este trabalho não seria possível.

Agradeço aos meus pais, Lázaro e Rita, cujo apoio me possibilitou conquistar o título de mestre.

O presente trabalho foi realizado com o apoio da Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior - Brasil (CAPES) - Código de Financiamento 001.

RESUMO

A mucosite oral (MO) é um processo inflamatório exacerbado da mucosa decorrente de terapia antineoplásica (e.g. radioterapia e/ou quimioterapia). A MO causa lesões ulcerativas, eritema e dor intensa, podendo afetar a fala, a alimentação, a eficácia e o tempo de tratamento, prolongar a hospitalização, diminuir a qualidade de vida e o aumento da mortalidade. Ainda não está claro o mecanismo pelo qual a MO se desenvolve, até o momento, acredita-se que haja ao menos 14 vias envolvidas na patogênese que se relaciona ao processo inflamatório, e com a liberação de espécies reativas de oxigênio (EROs). Essa falta de conhecimento, aliada a ausência de informações quanto às citocinas e quimiocinas específicas desse processo, dificulta o desenvolvimento de abordagens preventivas ou terapêuticas para a MO. Produtos naturais, como a própolis, têm sido investigados como possíveis fontes de biomoléculas para a atenuação da MO. A própolis é uma substância resinosa coletada de diversas plantas por abelhas que possui antimicrobiano, potencial anti-inflamatório, radioprotetor, anticancerígeno, antinociceptivo, entre outros. A própolis é capaz de modular a imunidade não específica, interferindo na produção de algumas citocinas pró-inflamatórias e neutralizar a produção de EROs. A própolis orgânica brasileira, especialmente do tipo 1 (PO1), possui uma alta atividade antioxidante e pode ser uma alternativa no tratamento da MO. Portanto, o objetivo do estudo é identificar os alvos moleculares relacionados à patogênese da MO, interagí-los com moléculas ativas identificadas e isoladas da PO1, por meio de estudo in silico de docking molecular e avaliar a biodisponibilidade das moléculas identificadas na PO1 pela 'regra dos 5' de Lipinski e absorção gastrointestinal, a partir do website SwissADME. Para o estudo de docking molecular, foram coletadas as informações químicas e estruturais dos alvos relacionados à patogênese da MO selecionados e das moléculas identificadas na PO1 (ligantes), que foram selecionadas na base Protein Data Bank (PDB) e PubChem, respectivamente. Neste estudo adotou-se duas estratégias metodológicas: I- Docking de 1 ligante e II- Docking de múltiplos ligantes. Utilizou-se como ferramentas os softwares AutoDock Vina[®] e MGLTools[®], para a identificação e seleção dos sítios de ligação mais promissores; e o software Maestro[©] para a identificação dos sítios de ligação mais promissores e a identificação dos resíduos em que ocorreram as interações entre os alvos e os ligantes. Na estratégia I todos os sete ligantes identificados interagiram com todos os oito alvos, com a energia de ligação variando de -1,9 a -8,7 kcal.mol⁻¹. Na estratégia II observamos potencial atividade combinada de todos os 6 ligantes avaliados para com todos os 8 alvos, sendo que os ligantes demonstraram melhor atividade com a TNF- α . Também observamos que os resíduos dos alvos em que os ligantes interagiram são constituintes de enzimas proteases. Concluímos que todos os ligantes identificados na PO1, e analisados neste estudo, interagiram com todos os alvos de modo promissor, sugerindo uma possível atividade anti-inflamatória, multialvo e inibidora de proteases, sendo que estes ligantes são moléculas indicadas para estudos in vitro e in vivo.

Palavras-chave: *Docking* molecular; Alvos moleculares; Produto natural; Câncer oral; Bioinformática.

ABSTRACT

Oral mucositis (OM) is an exacerbated mucosal inflammatory process resulting from antineoplastic therapy (e.g. radiotherapy and/or chemotherapy). OM causes ulcerative lesions, erythema, and severe pain, which can affect speech, diet, efficacy, and duration of treatment, prolong hospitalization, decrease quality of life and increase mortality. The mechanism which OM develops is still unclear, so far, it is proposed that there are at least 14 pathways involved in the pathogenesis related to this condition, with the release of reactive oxygen species (ROS). This lack of knowledge and information regarding specific cytokines and chemokines related to this process makes it difficult to develop preventive or therapeutic approaches to OM. Natural products, such as propolis, have been investigated as possible sources of biomolecules for OM attenuation. Propolis is a resinous substance collected from several plants by bees that have antimicrobial, anti-inflammatory, radioprotective, anticancer, antinociceptive potential, among others. Propolis can modulate non-specific immunity, interfering with the production of some pro-inflammatory cytokines and neutralizing the production of ROS. Brazilian organic propolis, especially type 1 (PO1), has a high antioxidant activity and can be an alternative in the treatment of OM. Therefore, the study aims to identify the molecular targets involved in the pathogenesis of OM interacting them with active molecules identified and isolated from PO1, through an in silico study of molecular docking, and assess the bioavailability of the molecules identified in PO1 by Lipinski's 'rule of 5' and gastrointestinal absorption through the SwissADME website. For the study of molecular docking, chemical and structural information of selected OM pathogenesis related targets and molecules identified in PO1 (ligands) were collected, which were selected in the Protein Data Bank (PDB) and PubChem database, respectively. This study adopted two methodological strategies: I- 1-ligand docking and II- Multiple-ligand docking. The AutoDock Vina® and MGLTools® software were used to identify and select the most promising binding sites; and the Maestro[©] software for identifying the most promising binding sites and identifying the residues where interactions between targets and ligands occurred. In strategy I, all seven ligands interacted with all eight targets with binding energy ranging from -1.9 to -8.7 kcal.mol⁻¹. In strategy II, we observed potential combined activity of all 6 evaluated ligands for all 8 targets, the ligands showed better activity with TNF- α in general. We also observed that the residues from the targets where the ligands interacted were constituents of protease enzymes. We conclude that all ligands identified in PO1 and analyzed in this study promising interacted with all targets, suggesting a possible anti-inflammatory, multi-target, and protease inhibitory activity, and these ligands are suitable molecules for *in vitro* studies and *in* vivo.

Keywords: Molecular docking; Molecular targets; Natural product; Oral cancer; Bioinformatics.

LISTA DE TABELAS

Tabela 1- Vias moleculares relacionadas à MO	.13
Table 1. Selected inflammatory targets related to OM	18
Table 2. Lipinski and gastric absorption of ligands in the 'pre' and post-docking moments	.20
Table 3. Results of strategy I: the affinity between targets and ligand (kcal.mol ⁻¹)	.22
Table 4. Ligands that dispute, or do not dispute, the binding site with the benzydamine	.23
Table 5. Results of strategy II: the affinity between the complex inflammatory targe	:t +
balajaponin D' and ligands (kcal.mol ⁻¹)	.27

LISTA DE ABREVIATURAS E SIGLAS

3D	Estrutura tridimensional
CCDC	Cambridge Crystallographic Data Centre
CRP	Protein C-Reactive/Proteína C Reativa
COX-2	Ciclooxigenase 2
CT/QT	Quimioterapia
DNA	Ácido desoxirribonucleico
EFG	Fator de crescimento epidermal
HMGB1	Proteína 1 do grupo de alta mobilidade
IF	Fator de impacto
IFN-γ	Interferon-gama
IL-1α	Interleucina um-alfa
IL-1β	Interleucina um-beta
IL-6	Interleucina-seis
IL-8	Interleucina-oito
INCA	Instituto Nacional de Câncer José Alencar Gomes da Silva
MO/OM	Mucosite oral/Oral mucositis
NF-ĸB	Fator nuclear kappa-B
PDB	Protein Data Bank
PDBe	Protein Data Bank in Europe
PUMA	P53 upregulated modulator of apoptosis/Modulador de apoptose
	regulado positivamente por P53
PO/OP	Própolis orgânica brasileira/Brazilian organic propolis
PPGCB	Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciências Biológicas
ROS/ERO	Espécies reativas de oxigênio
RT	Radioterapia
TNF-α	Fator de necrose tumoral humana-alfa
UNIFAL-MG	Universidade Federal de Alfenas

SUMÁRIO

1 INTRODUÇÃO	12
1.1. OBJETIVOS	15
1.1.1 Objetivo Geral	15
1.1.2 Objetivos Específicos	15
2 DESENVOLVIMENTO	16
2.1 IN SILICO EVALUATION OF THE INTERACTION OF ORGANIC PROPOLIS MOLECULES WITH	
PATHOGENESIS TARGETS OF CHEMORADIOTHERAPY-ASSOCIATED ORAL MUCOSITIS	16
Introduction	17
Results and Discussion	18
Molecular targets related to the OM pathogenesis	18
Ligand molecules	19
Lipinski's 'rule of 5' and gastrointestinal absorption applied to ligands	19
Analyze of the Strategy I: Single ligand docking	21
Analyze of strategy II: Docking of multiple ligands	26
Conclusion	29
Experimental section	29
Inflammatory targets of OM	30
Ligand molecules	30
Three-dimensional structure (3D) of inflammatory targets and ligands	31
Lipinski's 'rule of 5' and gastrointestinal absorption applied to ligands	31
Molecular docking assay	32
Strategy I: Single ligand docking	32
Strategy II: Multiple ligands docking	33
References	34
3 CONSIDERAÇÕES FINAIS	44
REFERÊNCIAS	45
APÊNDICE A – LIGANTES QUE INTERAGIRAM OU NÃO NO MESMO SÍTIO	
QUE A BENZIDAMINA	54
APÊNDICE B – LIGANTES QUE INTERAGIRAM NA REGIÃO DA	
BALAJAPONINA D (ESTRATÉGIA II)	57

APÊNDICE C – RESÍDUOS DOS ALVOS NO COMPLEXO 'ALVO INFLAMATÓRIO
+ BALAJAPONINA D' EM QUE OCORRERAM AS INTERAÇÕES COM OS SEIS
LIGANTES60
APÊNDICE D – FILTRO DE BUSCA PARA A SELEÇÃO DOS MEDIADORES
INFLAMATÓRIOS65
APÊNDICE E – ESTRUTURA 3D DOS MEDIADORES INFLAMATÓRIOS
RELACIONADOS À MUCOSITE ORAL (ALVOS)66
APÊNDICE F – ESTRUTURA 3D DAS BIOMOLÉCULAS IDENTIFICADAS DA PO1
(LIGANTES)
APÊNDICE G - SMILES DOS COMPOSTOS NO MOMENTO PRÉ-DOCKING68
APÊNDICE H - SMILES DOS COMPOSTOS NO MOMENTO PÓS-DOCKING 69
APÊNDICE I – METODOLOGIA ADOTADA NA ESTRATÉGIA I: DOCKING DE
APENAS UM LIGANTE
ANEXO A – SUBMISSÃO À REVISTA JOURNAL OF MEDICINAL CHEMISTRY 72

1 INTRODUÇÃO

O câncer oral é a sétima neoplasia de maior ocorrência mundial, ocupando a nona posição de mortes, sendo estimadas 359.000 mortes por ano (*BOSETTI et al., 2020*). No Brasil o Instituto Nacional de Câncer José Alencar Gomes da Silva (INCA) estima que a incidência do câncer para o triênio de 2020-2022 será de 387.980 novos casos em homens e 297.980 em mulheres, sendo que destes, 11.180 e 4.010 novos casos localizados na cavidade oral, em homens e mulheres, respectivamente (*INCA, 2020*). Os tratamentos antineoplásicos visam a destruição das células cancerígenas, no entanto, os agentes quimio e radioterápicos não são seletivos, causando danos às células saudáveis, assim como às imunológicas (*BROWN; GUPTA, 2020*).

Os tratamentos oncológicos, como a quimioterapia e a radioterapia na região de cabeça e pescoço, podem resultar em danos colaterais, como o aparecimento da mucosite oral (*CINAUSERO et al., 2017; JENSEN; PETERSON, 2014; SROUSSI et al., 2017)*. A mucosite oral (MO) consiste em uma reação inflamatória exacerbada (*KIM et al., 2005*), causada por radioterapia e/ou quimioterapia na região de cabeça e pescoço. É caracterizada por lesões eritematosas e/ou ulcerativas, normalmente extremamente dolorosas, que podem: aumentar o tempo de internação, o uso de opióides para alívio da dor, e o risco de infecções oportunistas (*e.g.* locais e sistêmicas), contribuindo, portanto, para a diminuição da qualidade de vida dos sujeitos, do tratamento oncológico e encarecendo o tratamento (*RILEY et al., 2017; SONIS, 2004*).

O desenvolvimento da MO se dá em 5 etapas: a de Iniciação, em que após o dano ao DNA induzido pelos tratamentos oncológicos há morte celular, produção de espécies reativas de oxigênio (ROS) e a ativação de diversos fatores de transcrição; esses fatores levam à etapa de Sinalização e Amplificação, em que há a ativação e regulação positiva de diferentes citocinas pró-inflamatórias, moléculas de adesão celular e respondedores de estresse, amplificando o dano celular; então, há a etapa de Ulceração, com o desenvolvimento de lesões acompanhadas por dor intensa e perda de apetite, podendo levar à internação do paciente; então, a partir de 2 a 4 semanas após a última dose do tratamento antineoplásico, há a última etapa do desenvolvimento da MO, que é a etapa de Cicatrização, onde há a cicatrização das lesões ulcerativas (*NICOLATOU-GALITIS et al., 2021; SONIS, 2004*).

Apesar de ser um importante efeito adverso, a patogênese da MO permanece pouco

esclarecida (HAN et al., 2013), assim como não há um tratamento eficaz, apenas preventivo (e.g. higiene bucal) e terapêutico, com eficácia limitada, sendo que o alívio da dor, o suporte nutricional e a prevenção de infecções secundárias são elementos-chave no tratamento do sujeito. A complexidade da patogênese da MO é evidenciada pela participação de 14 possível vias moleculares, como descrito na Tabela 1, sendo que não há na literatura, a relação de quais destas vias se desenvolve na MO induzida por radioterapia ou por quimioterapia (SONIS; VILLA, 2018; VASCONCELOS et al., 2016).

Tabela 1- Vias moleculares relacionadas à MO

Vias moleculares que foram relacionadas à MO
Metabolismo de nitrogênio
Sinalização de receptor tipo Toll
Sinalização por NF-κB
Sinalização de receptor de células B (linfócitos B)
Sinalização P13K / AKT
Ciclo celular: receptor checkpoint de dano de DNA G2/M
Sinalização P38 MAPK
Sinalização Wnt/β-catenina
Sinalização do receptor de glutamato
Sinalização de integrina
Sinalização VEGF
Sinalização IL-6
Sinalização de receptor de morte
Sinalização SAPK/JNK
$E \to (CONEC + 1, 2007)$

Fonte: (SONIS et al., 2007)

Há diversos tratamentos que têm sido propostos no controle da MO (*e.g.* crioterapia, laserterapia, uso de opioides, entre outros) (*BARBOSA et al., 2019a; SROUSSI et al., 2017*), como o fármaco Benzidamina, que tem sido proposto, dentre os agentes anti-inflamatórios, como um possível agente preventivo e de tratamento contra a MO (*ELAD et al., 2020*). Essa dificuldade em identificar um agente terapêutico adequado é devido ao fato de a MO ser uma doença multifatorial, ou seja, originária de diversas e complexas interações de fatores, como demonstrado pela Tabela 1 (*SALEHI et al., 2018*).

A Associação Multinacional de Cuidados de Suporte em Câncer (Multinational

Association of Supportive Care in Cancer – MASCC) e a Sociedade Internacional de Oncologia Oral (International Society for Oral Oncology – ISOO) propõem o uso de agentes naturais e diversos (YAROM et al., 2020). Produtos naturais são potenciais agentes terapêuticos, uma vez que possuem diversas biomoléculas que podem atuar em diferentes alvos (FANG et al., 2020). Um destes produtos que têm sido amplamente estudado para controle e tratamento de doenças multifatoriais é a própolis, já que ela apresenta potenciais efeitos anti-inflamatórios, anticancerígenos, antimicrobianos, antioxidantes entre outros (FRANCHIN et al., 2018; NANI et al., 2020; TIVERON et al., 2016). Em especial, Tiveron e colaboradores (TIVERON et al., 2016, 2020) estudaram a Própolis Orgânica, uma própolis brasileira (PO), que foi identificada e coletada nos estados do Paraná e Santa Catarina e classificada em 7 tipos (PO1 a PO7) como fonte de biomoléculas com atividades anti-inflamatória, antioxidante e antimicrobiana. Na PO1 foram identificadas sete estruturas pertencentes à classe de lignanas ou precursores de lignanas, denominadas de biomarcadores, uma vez que estavam presentes apenas neste tipo de própolis (PO1) e que apresentaram estas atividades biológicas em estudos *in vitro (NANI et al., 2020;* TIVERON et al., 2016).

O docking molecular é um estudo racional prévio aos estudos in vitro e in vivo (préclínico e clínico), que poupa tempo dispendido, recursos financeiros, material, e principalmente a vida de animais em pesquisas (FREIRES et al., 2017; SILVA et al., 2019). Esse modelo de estudo in silico busca melhorar a compreensão sobre o processo de reconhecimento entre duas ou mais moléculas, se baseando na teoria do ajuste induzido, que prevê que as enzimas e substratos podem sofrer variações conformacionais (CZARNOTA et al., 2019). Ele também possibilita identificar os possíveis sítios de ligação, posição e afinidade entre um ligante, que é uma molécula pequena, e o receptor, que é a macromolécula, o que contribui para a compreensão do funcionamento do mecanismo de reconhecimento molecular (ROCHE; BRACKENRIDGE; MCGUFFIN, 2015; TAO et al., 2020).

Para a ligação entre ligante e receptor é necessária que ocorra uma conformidade espacial e energética entre eles, nesse momento ocorrem alterações constantes no sítio de ligação até o estabelecimento de uma ligação estável. Há 3 tipos de *docking*: o rígido, onde tanto o receptor quanto o ligante permanecem sem alterações conformacionais, sendo indicado para grandes estruturas; o flexível, em que ambos, receptor e ligante, sofrem alterações estruturais; e o semi-flexível, com alterações estruturais apenas no ligante, sendo recomendado em estudos com ligantes de pequenas moléculas *(MORRIS et al., 2009; ROY et al., 2018; TAO et al., 2020)*, como é o caso deste estudo. Alguns dos *softwares* mais utilizados para esse tipo de estudo são o AutoDock (MGLTools) e o AutoDock Vina, que é mais veloz e tem maior

precisão (TAO et al., 2020; TROTT; OLSON, 2010), sendo, portanto, os programas escolhidos para este estudo.

Devido aos potenciais efeitos anti-inflamatório e antioxidante, a PO1 é uma candidata promissora para um estudo como possível tratamento da MO (*TIVERON et al., 2020*). Portanto, o objetivo deste estudo é estudar *in silico* a interação entre os alvos relacionados à patogênese da MO e as biomoléculas identificadas na PO1, por meio de *docking* molecular.

1.1 OBJETIVOS

1.1.1 Objetivo Geral

Identificar os alvos moleculares envolvidos na patogênese relacionada à MO, a partir de uma revisão da literatura e interagí-los com moléculas ativas isoladas da própolis orgânica, por meio de estudo *in silico*.

1.1.2 Objetivos Específicos

- a) Identificar os alvos relacionados à patogênese da MO radioquimioinduzida;
- b) Avaliar computacionalmente a biodisponibilidade das moléculas ativas identificadas da própolis orgânica tipo I;
- c) Avaliar computacionalmente a interação entre as moléculas ativas identificadas da própolis orgânica e os alvos envolvidos na patogênese da MO individualmente, ou seja, adotando a estratégia de docking de apenas um ligante; e
- d) Analisar computacionalmente a interação entre as moléculas ativas identificadas da própolis orgânica e os alvos envolvidos na patogênese da MO combinados, ou seja, adotando a estratégia de docking de múltiplos ligantes.

2 DESENVOLVIMENTO

2.1 *In silico* evaluation of the interaction of organic propolis molecules with pathogenesis targets of chemoradiotherapy-associated oral mucositis.¹

Mikaela L. de Souza^a, Pedro L. Rosalen^a, Carine E. de Oliveira^a, Leandro M. Santos^b, Tiago Henrique^c, Nelson J. F. da Silveira^a, Lívia M. R. Paranaíba^a*

^a Federal University of Alfenas Institute of Biomedical Sciences, Postgraduate Program in Biological Sciences; Street Gabriel Monteiro da Silva, 700, Alfenas, MG - zip code 37130-001.

^b Federal University of Alfenas, Institute of Chemistry, Graduate Program in Chemistry; Street Gabriel Monteiro da Silva, 700, Alfenas, MG - zip code 37130-001.

^c College of Medicine of São José do Rio Preto, Laboratory of molecular markers and medical bioinformatics;

Av. Brigadeiro Faria Lima, 5416, São José do Rio Preto – SP – zip code 15090-000.

*E-mail: livia.paranaiba@unifal-mg.edu.br

ABSTRACT

This study aims to identify potential inflammatory targets related TO OM pathogenesis from a review of literature, then to analyze their interaction with Brazilian Organic Propolis (OP1) molecules by bioavailability under Lipinski's rules; and also, to perform an *in silico* study of molecular docking through 2 strategies: I-Single ligand docking, and II-Multiple ligand docking. The chemical and structural information of selected OM targets and molecules identified in OP1 (ligands) were collected on suitable platforms; AutoDock Vina and MGLTools software was used to selecting promising binding sites; and Maestro software for analyzes of multiple ligands. In strategy I, all ligands interacted in a promising way with all targets. In strategy II, we observed combined interactions of ligands, demonstrating interactions with protease enzymes. In conclusion, the active molecules of OP1 interacted computationally with inflammatory targets related to the OM pathogenesis, with possible combined activity and inhibitory activity of proteases, suggesting several possible activities, which should be investigated.

Keywords: Molecular docking. Lignans. Bioinformatics. Natural product. Protease. Cancer.

¹ Este artigo foi submetido à revista Journal of Medicinal Chemistry, IF (2020): 7.446 (Anexo A)

Introduction

Mucositis consists of damage to the oral mucosa¹ and the oropharynx. It is characterized by inflammation in the oral cavity and damage to the mucosa². Oral mucositis (OM) is a multifactorial condition that develops from antineoplastic treatment, such as radiotherapy (RT), in the head and neck region, and systemic chemotherapy (CT)³. The first symptom of OM is painful erythematous and/or ulcerative lesions, which can compromise nutrition causing weight loss. The degree of myelosuppression, as well as environmental factors represented by the oral microbial flora, saliva, and its protective components, added to the possible role of functional trauma, provide an important set of factors that impact the frequency, severity, and course of the disease^{4,5}. This condition may also compromise the effectiveness by the need of treatment interruption associated or not to hospitalization with several complications, such as secondary infections and the progression of the underlying disease⁶, which can increase mortality and influence the diagnosis of cancer⁴.

RT and/or CT cause cellular damage releasing reactive oxygen species (ROS) which amplify this damage leading to cell death and the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, intensifying mucosal lesions. Some inflammatory mediators or targets (*e.g.* cytokines and chemokines) that may be related to OM pathogenesis are TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6⁷⁻⁹, growth factors (EGF)^{4,10,11}, NF- κ B¹², COX-2, IL-1 α ⁷, IL-8⁹, IFN- γ , and HMGB1^{13–15}.

Although benzydamine has been proposed as a preventive treatment for OM¹⁶ there is no *standard* treatment for this condition¹⁴. Natural products such as honey and propolis have been widely studied as sources of molecules with biological activities, being, therefore, of pharmaceutical interest^{17,18}. Propolis has a potential antibiotic effect¹⁹, radioprotective, local anesthetic, immunomodulatory²⁰, anticancer²¹, anti-inflammatory^{17,21}, and antioxidant activities^{20–22} which can prevent, reduce, and treat OM radiochemical induced, as reduce the DNA damage.

Brazilian organic propolis (OP) is a special type of propolis classified into 7 types (OP1 up to OP7). Tiveron et al., (2020)²³ characterized the chemical composition of OP1, detecting bioactive products exclusive to natural products which can be used as chemical biomarkers. The seven compounds isolated from OP1 are: coniferyl alcohol, coniferyl aldehyde, (+)-lariciresinol, (-)-secoisolariciresinol, balajaponin D, (+)-pinoresinol, and (-)-matairesinol²³.

Natural products have been studied through *in silico* methodology (*e.g.* docking molecular), since understanding how ligand can recognize and interact with a macromolecule is extremely important for the development of new drugs²⁴. Molecular docking aims to improve the understanding of the recognition process between two or more molecules²⁵, this allows the

identification of possible binding sites, position, and affinity between a ligand and the receptor, which contributes to the understanding of the functioning of the molecular recognition mechanism^{26,27}. These aspects characterize docking as a rational study before *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies (preclinical and clinical), since predicting possible interactions can save time, investments, material, and especially the lives of animals and humans in research^{28,29}.

The objective of this study is to evaluate the bioavailability of OP1 isolated bioactive molecules, called ligands, and analyze the interaction of these ligands with inflammatory targets of OM, selecting candidates for anti-MO therapy.

Results and Discussion

Molecular targets related to the OM pathogenesis

Table 1 shows the pathogenesis targets OM-related that were selected by literature searches, the activity of these mediators in mucositis, the structure in the PDB platform, and the reference of the selected articles. All eight targets presented here were selected for the docking simulations.

Targets	Pharmacologic action	Structure	Reference
p53	Its deficiency causes blockade of apoptosis that occurs 3 to 6 hours after radiotherapy.	1AIE Chain: A Mutation: 0 https://www.rcsb.org/structure/1AIE	5,30–32
PUMA	Its deficiency blocks p53-activated apoptosis, hypoxia in tissues and cells and causing DNA damage. Works by activating caspase and causing mitochondrial dysfunction.	2M04 Chain: B Mutation: 0 https://www.rcsb.org/structure/2M04	5,30–32
TNF-α	Related to tissue damage. Under radiotherapy, it may be associated with the severity of mucositis. It is related to radio-induced and chemo-induced injuries.	1TNF Chain: A, B, C Mutation: 0 https://www.rcsb.org/3d-view/1TNF	10,30,31,33,34
IL-1β	Increases in chemotherapy and is related to tissue damage. Under radiotherapy, it may be associated with the severity of mucositis. When elevated, severe oral toxicity develops. It is related to radio- induced and chemo-induced injuries.	1ITB Chain: A Mutation: 0 https://www.rcsb.org/structure/1ITB	10,30,31,33,34
IL-6	Pro-inflammatory cytokine, up- regulated in OM, a potential therapeutic target. Under radiotherapy, it may be associated with the severity of	4ZS7 Chain: A Mutation: 0 https://www.rcsb.org/structure/4ZS7	4,10,31,33–35

Table 1. Selected pathogenesis targets related to OM.

	mucositis. When elevated, severe oral toxicity develops. Related to chemo-induced injuries.		
NF-κB	Up-regulated in OM, potential therapeutic target	1A3Q Chain: C [auth A] e D [auth B] Mutation: 0 https://www.rcsb.org/structure/1A3Q	4,30,33
EGF	Stimulates epithelial cell proliferation, which contributes to the worsening of mucositis	3NJP Chain: C, D Mutation: 0 https://www.rcsb.org/structure/3NJP	11,33
CRP	It is related to the degree of severity of radio-induced mucositis.	1B09 Chain: A, B, C, D, E Mutation: 0 https://www.rcsb.org/structure/1B09	36

The inflammatory targets studied in the literature more related to the pathogenesis of OM were selected (*e.g.* oral mucosa)^{4,30,33,36}, which are the same observed in systemic inflammatory processes³⁷. In the literature, there are other inflammatory targets are related to other types of mucositis, such as gastrointestinal³⁸ and anal³⁹, which will not be addressed in this study.

Ligand molecules

The ligands coniferyl alcohol, coniferyl aldehyde, and (-)-matairesinol presented the 'ideal' [(1)] and 'representative' [(R)] forms. This differentiation is due to the classification adopted by the PDBeChem website, which is the base for others, such as PDBe. The platform justified this differentiation with the following argument: 'Model (representative) structures of ligands comes from a PDB entry the ligand was encountered for the first time. So their geometry can suffer from all sorts of artifacts (especially for the older ligands). Ideal coordinates are generated using Molecular Networks' Corina, and if there are issues, OpenEye's OMEGA. In some cases, *e.g.* complex ligands with ruthenium ions coordinates for certain atoms are not available, this is not the case for 'model' coordinates'.

Lipinski's 'rule of 5' and gastrointestinal absorption applied to ligands

In the results of Table 2, we can see that all the ligands under study, in both moments of evaluation, respected Lipinski's 'rule of 5'. Therefore, all forms of the ligands showed good oral absorption (solubility and permeability) since they had a molecular weight (MWT) up to 500, MLogP up to 4.15, up to 10 of H-bonds receptors, and up to 5 H-bonds donors. All ligands are suitable candidates for drugs to be administered by this route. Due to the similar results for

all ligands, this criterion selected both 'ideal' [(I)] and 'representative' [(R)] forms for the continuity of the study.

In the gastrointestinal absorption analysis, all the seven ligands showed high absorption in this subject since they satisfy lipophilicity (MLogP) and polarity calculated by the predictive model BOILED-Egg.

Moment	Ligand	G.I. Absorption*	Lipinski	MWT*A	MLogP* ^B	N or O* ^C	NH or OH* ^D
PRE-DOCKING	coniferyl alcohol _(I) coniferyl alcohol _(R) coniferyl aldehyde _(I) coniferyl aldehyde _(R) (+)-lariciresinol (-)-secoisolariciresinol balajaponin D (+)-pinoresinol (-)-matairesinol _(I) (-)-matairesinol _(R)	HIGH	Yes, 0 violation	≤ 500	≤4.15	≤10	≤5
POST-DOCKING	coniferyl alcohol _(I) (EGF;IL-1 β ;IL-6;NF- κ B; P53;PUMA;TNF- α ;CRP) coniferyl alcohol _(R) (EGF;IL-1 β ;IL-6;NF- κ B; P53;PUMA;TNF- α ;CRP) coniferyl aldehyde _(I) (EGF;IL-1 β ;IL-6;NF- κ B; P53;PUMA;TNF- α ;CRP) coniferyl aldehyde _(R) (EGF;IL-1 β ;IL-6;NF- κ B; P53;PUMA;TNF- α ;CRP) (-)-matairesinol _(I) (EGF;IL-1 β ;IL-6;NF- κ B; P53;PUMA;TNF- α ;CRP) (-)-matairesinol _(R) (EGF;IL-1 β ;IL-6;NF- κ B; P53;PUMA;TNF- α ;CRP)	HIGH	Yes, 0 violation	≤ 500	≤4.15	≤ 10	≤ 5

Table 2. Lipinski and gastric absorption of ligands in the 'pre' and post-docking moments.

*Gastrointestinal absorption; *^A: molecular weight (MWT) up to 500; *^B: MLogP up to 4.15; *^C: up to 10 of Hbonds receptors; and *^D: up to 5 H-bonds donors

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study evaluating *in silico* the possible activities of lignans present in organic propolis, most of studies were *in vitro*⁴⁰.

In this study, all the seven ligands met all 4 of Lipinski's rules (Table 2), which may indicate good bioavailability since natural products normally meet only 3 of these rules⁴¹. All the ligands evaluated also met the criteria established for gastrointestinal absorption. Therefore,

it is possible to infer from this *in silico* study, that the ligands showed an excellent oral or gastrointestinal bioavailability^{42,43}. In other studies, the ligands (+)-pinoresinol, (-)-matairesinol, (+)-lariciresinol, and (-)-secoisolariciresinol showed rapid absorption in the small intestine, having been identified in the bloodstream only one hour after ingestion^{40,44}.

Lignans are secondary plant metabolites pharmacologically active, constituted by the dimerization of phenolic compounds⁴⁵. There are several 'subtypes' of lignans, and those that are converted to enterolignans and enterolactone can be absorbed by humans⁴⁶. Lignans known to be precursors of enterolignans are the following compounds: (+)-lariciresinol, (-)-secoisolariciresinol, (+)-pinoresinol, and (-)-matairesinol⁴⁷. The concentrations (in plasma, urine, and serum) of enterolignans are inversely proportional to the risk of breast cancer^{48,49} having protective actions for several types of cancer^{50,51} and cardiovascular diseases⁵². Also, enterolignans and (-)-secoisolariciresinol showed significant enterohepatic recirculation^{40,44}.

The literature shows that absorption of lignans varies from organism to organism (depending on intestinal bacteria, genetic factors) and that it occurs through the gastrointestinal tract⁴⁰. All these properties are of interest to our study as OM is a multifactorial disease.

Analyze of the Strategy I: Single ligand docking

Initially, Strategy I was applied to benzydamine, a ligand used in this study as a control. It was simulated to analyze binding with the eight targets related to the pathogenesis of OM. The energetic variation between benzydamine and the targets ranged from -4.8 to -7.6 kcal.mol⁻¹, and the target that showed the best interaction was TNF- α (-7.6 kcal.mol⁻¹) (Table 3).

All seven ligands exhibited promising binding capabilities to the assessed targets (Table 3). Regarding TNF- α and CRP, the ligands that showed the best results were coniferyl alcohol, in the ideal [(1)] and representative [(R)] forms, coniferyl aldehyde, only in the (R) form, (+)-lariciresinol, (-)-secoisolariciresinol, balajaponin D, (+)-pinoresinol, and (-)-matairesinol, in (1) and (R) forms. Among the evaluated targets, TNF- α was the one that showed the greatest affinity with the ligands under study (Δ energetic -3.2 to -8.7 kcal.mol⁻¹).

The IL-6, IL-1 β , P53, PUMA, EGF, and NF- κ B targets showed similar results (Table 3). Among these, the lowest value of energy expenditure was -6.7 kcal.mol⁻¹ for ligand (+)-lariciresinol with the IL-1 β . The highest observed value of energy expenditure was -1.9 kcal.mol⁻¹ to the PUMA with coniferyl aldehyde in the (1) form.

Regarding the TNF- α , Table 3 shows that the (+)-lariciresinol (-8.7 kcal.mol⁻¹), (-)matairesinol, in the (I) (-8.0 kcal.mol⁻¹) and (R) forms (-7.9 kcal.mol⁻¹), (-)-secoisolariciresinol (-7.8 kcal.mol⁻¹), balajaponin D (-8.7 kcal.mol⁻¹), and (+)-pinoresinol (-8.5 kcal.mol⁻¹), showed better interaction results than benzydamine (-7.6 kcal.mol⁻¹), considering that their results had lower binding energy.

In the CRP (Table 3), the interaction with benzydamine presented an energy expenditure of -6.9 kcal.mol⁻¹, while the ligands (+)-lariciresinol (-7.7 kcal.mol⁻¹), balajaponin D (- 7.2 kcal.mol⁻¹), (+)-pinoresinol (-7.6 kcal.mol⁻¹), and (-)-matairesinol in the _(I) (-7.6 kcal.mol⁻¹) and _(R) (-7.2 kcal.mol⁻¹) forms, presented numerically lower results than benzydamine.

Regarding the P53 (Table 3), benzydamine presented an energy expenditure of -6.0 kcal.mol⁻¹ of interaction, and the ligands (+)-lariciresinol (-6.1 kcal.mol⁻¹), (-)-matairesinol in the $_{(R)}$ form (-6.3 kcal.mol⁻¹), and (+)-pinoresinol (-6.1 kcal.mol⁻¹) presented results numerically smaller or similar to benzydamine.

For the IL-1 β (Table 3), benzydamine presented an interaction energy expenditure of -6.0 kcal.mol⁻¹. However, the (+)-lariciresinol (-6.7 kcal.mol⁻¹), (-)-secoisolariciresinol (-6.2 kcal.mol⁻¹), balajaponin D (-6.2 kcal.mol⁻¹), (+)-pinoresinol (-6.2 kcal.mol⁻¹), and (-)matairesinol in the _(I) (-6.4 kcal.mol⁻¹) and _(R) forms (-6.2 kcal.mol⁻¹), presented numerically smaller or similar results to benzydamine.

	Inflammatory targets							
Ligand	IL-6	IL-1β	P53	PUMA	TNF-α	EGF	NF-ĸB	CRP
Benzydamine (control)	-5.7	-6.0	-6.0	-4.8	-7.6	-5.6	-5.9	-6.9
coniferyl alcohol (I)	-4.6	-4.4	-4.4	-3.4	-5.6	-4.5	-4.3	-5.3
coniferyl alcohol (R)	-5.0	-4.3	-4.8	-3.7	-6.0	-4.8	-5.1	-5.2
coniferyl aldehyde (I)	-3.1	-2.5	-3.5	-1.9	-3.2	-2.8	-2.9	-3.0
coniferyl aldehyde (R)	-5.1	-4.4	-4.6	-3.8	-6.1	-4.8	-5.0	-5.5
(+)-lariciresinol	-6.0	-6.7	-6.1	-5.0	-8.7	-5.7	-6.6	-7.7
(-)-secoisolariciresinol	-6.1	-6.2	-5.5	-4.6	-7.8	-5.8	-5.9	-6.6
balajaponin D	-6.2	-6.2	-5.7	-5.4	-8.7	-5.9	-6.1	-7.2
(+)-pinoresinol	-6.5	-6.2	-6.1	-5.2	-8.5	-5.8	-6.2	-7.6
(-)-matairesinol (I)	-6.1	-6.4	-5.9	-4.2	-8.0	-6.3	-6.0	-7.6
(-)-matairesinol (R)	-5.6	-6.2	-6.3	-4.8	-7.9	-6.5	-5.7	-7.2

Table 3. Results of strategy I: the affinity between targets and ligand (kcal.mol⁻¹).

(I) ideal and (R) representative forms of ligand

Analyzing the images of the results between the seven ligands under study and benzydamine (supporting information, Table $1S^2$) we detected ligands that interacted at the same site as benzydamine and others at different sites, as described below (Table 4).

For the PUMA (Table 4), all seven ligands interacted at the same site as benzydamine, while for the P53, all of them presented a possible multitarget behavior, interacting at different

² O material suplementar, Table 1S está no APÊNDICE A

sites than the benzydamine site. In the IL-1 β , only the coniferyl aldehyde in the ideal form interacted at a different site compared to benzydamine, whereas in the IL-6 only the (+)-lariciresinol interacted at the same site as benzydamine. In the NF- κ B, only the (+)-lariciresinol and (-)-secoisolariciresinol interacted at the same site as benzydamine.

In the CRP (Table 4), the coniferyl alcohol in ideal [(I)] and representative [(R)] forms, coniferyl aldehyde in (I) form, (+)-pinoresinol, and (-)-secoisolariciresinol interacted at the same site as benzydamine, while the coniferyl aldehyde in (R) form, (+)-lariciresinol, balajaponin D and (-)-matairesinol in (I) and (R) forms, interacted at different sites compared to benzydamine.

In the EGF (Table 4), the ligands coniferyl aldehyde in the forms $_{(I)}$ and $_{(R)}$, coniferyl alcohol in the form $_{(R)}$, (-)-matairesinol in the form $_{(I)}$ and $_{(R)}$, and (+)- pinoresinol interacted at the same site as benzydamine, while the coniferyl alcohol in the form $_{(I)}$, (+)-lariciresinol, balajaponin D, and (-)-secoisolariciresinol interacted at different sites than benzydamine.

Finally, regarding the TNF- α (Table 4), only the coniferyl aldehyde, in _(I) and _(R) forms, and coniferyl alcohol, in _(I) and _(R) forms, interacted at different sites than benzydamine.

Targets	Ligands that have bonded to the same site	Ligands that have not bonded to the same site
CRP	coniferyl aldehyde _(I) coniferyl alcohol(1 and R) (+)-pinoresinol (-)-secoisolariciresinol	coniferyl aldehyde _(R) (+)-lariciresinol balajaponin D (-)-matairesinol _{(I} and _R)
EGF	coniferyl aldehyde(I and R) coniferyl alcohol(R) (+)-matairesinol(I and R) (+)-pinoresinol	coniferyl alcohol _(I) (+)-lariciresinol balajaponin D (-)-secoisolariciresinol
IL-1β	balajaponin D coniferyl alcohol(1 and R) coniferyl aldehyde(R) (+)-lariciresinol (-)-matairesinol(1 and R) (+)-pinoresinol (-)-secoisolariciresinol	coniferyl aldehyde(I)
IL-6	(+)-lariciresinol	coniferyl alcohol(I and R) coniferyl aldehyde(I and R) (-)-secoisolariciresinol balajaponin D (+)-pinoresinol (-)-matairesinol(I and R)
NF-ĸB	(+)-lariciresinol (-)-secoisolariciresinol	coniferyl alcohol(I and R) coniferyl aldehyde(I and R) balajaponin D (+)-pinoresinol (-)-matairesinol(I and R)
P53	-	coniferyl aldehyde(1 and R) coniferyl alcohol(1 and R)

Table 4. Ligands that dispute, or do not dispute, the binding site with the benzydamine.

		(+)-secoisolariciresinol balajaponin D (+)-pinoresinol (-)-matairesinol(1 and R)
PUMA	coniferyl aldehyde(I and R) coniferyl alcohol(I and R) (+)-lariciresinol (-)-secoisolariciresinol balajaponin D (+)-pinoresinol (-)-matairesinol(I and R)	-
TNF-α	balajaponin D (+)-lariciresinol (-)-matairesinol(I and R) (+)-pinoresinol (-)-secoisolariciresinol	coniferyl aldehyde(I and R) coniferyl alcohol(I and R)

(I) ideal and (R) representative forms of ligand

Based on the analysis of the results obtained in this strategy, in the ligands that presented the 'ideal' [(I)] and 'representative' [(R)] forms the difference in conformity between these forms were detected, which was confirmed through the visualization of the complex 'inflammatory target + ligand'. Therefore, it is of interest for this study to adopt both forms for future analyzes.

(1) laminimation of

This molecular docking study was carried out to assess whether the bioactive molecules of Brazilian organic propolis (OP1), identified as belonging to the chemical group of lignans or lignans precursors (the ligands studied) and the control ligand benzydamine would demonstrate possible interactions with the selected targets related to OM pathogenesis (eight) (Table 3). We observed, *in silico*, that all ligands interacted with all targets related to the inflammatory process occurring in OM (Table 3).

Benzydamine, a non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug, has also been shown in the literature to inhibit TNF- α and IL-1 β targets^{53,54}. Morgan and collaborators (2018)⁵³ reported that the difficulty in identifying an inhibitor for this target is due to the bell shape of the active site, where benzydamine interacts. Therefore, as noted in this article, this reinforces the possible inhibitory action of the ligands we studied that interacted at the same site as benzydamine concerning TNF- α (Table 4).

There are no small molecule TNF- α inhibitors approved by FDA⁵³, which makes the ligands (+)-lariciresinol, (-)-secoisolariciresinol, balajaponin D, (+)-pinoresinol, and (-)-matairesinol promising molecules in the inactivation of this pro-inflammatory cytokine, since, in addition to having presented lower interaction energy expenditure for this target, compared to benzydamine, these molecules are components of propolis, which is classified as a safe and effective food (GRAS) by the FDA⁵⁵.

Regarding benzydamine, several ligands not interact at the same binding site with this drug (Table 4), presenting, therefore, possible different interaction sites with the targets evaluated here. Ligands that interacted at the same site as benzydamine can demonstrate a possible site-specific capacity for certain targets.

Ligands that did not compete for the same site (possible multi-target behavior) can be evaluated for treatments in conjunction with this drug since natural products can also interact with drugs, increasing their therapeutic activity. The combination of 'natural products + drugs' has been strongly proposed, considering that, it can contribute to reducing treatment costs, drug-resistant strains, and increasing treatment efficacy⁵⁶.

In agreement with the data obtained in this study, the literature reports that the ligand (-)-matairesinol has promising anti-inflammatory activity, *in vitro*, acting in several inflammatory mediators (*e.g.* NF- κ B, in the regulation of TNF- α , NO, and COX-2), either by decreased activation or the negative regulation of the production of these cytokines⁵⁷. Iqbal and collaborators (2013)⁵⁸ demonstrated that the increased release of TNF- α contributes to the development of several diseases of inflammatory origin. TNF- α is an interesting target in the search for OM treatment, as it is regulated by the NF- κ B pathway, one of the most important in the development of this condition since it also regulates IL-6 and IL-1 β ⁵⁹. Therefore, it is of interest to search for compounds that decrease the production of this cytokine or others involved in the same process.

In an *in vitro* evaluation of the modulation of the inflammatory response of several lignans, such as (-)-secoisolariciresinol, (+)-pinoresinol, (+)-lariciresinol, and (-)-matairesinol, it was observed that ligand (+)-pinoresinol demonstrated the highest anti-inflammatory activity among these, especially concerning the inflammatory cytokines IL-6 and PGE-E2 derived from COX-2, while ligand (-)-matairesinol increased PGE-E2 derived from COX-2, however, the study highlighted that this ligand had presented a high degree of impurities⁶⁰.

The ligand coniferyl alcohol is a phenolic precursor of lignans and lignins that have several biological roles and is also found in pheromones of queen bees of the genus *Apis mellifera*⁶¹. Sun and collaborators (2014)⁵⁰ demonstrated that the ligand coniferyl alcohol has a weak inhibitory effect of TNF- α , induced by NF- κ B, however, the weak inhibitory activity was justified by the possibility that the benzene ring present in the ligand coniferyl alcohol was replaced in the C-3 methoxy group of 1-(-3-hydroxy-propen-1-yl) phenyl⁵⁰. In our study, this ligand interacted with TNF- α , which did not appear to result in weak activity.

Also following that observed in Strategy I, the ligand coniferyl aldehyde demonstrated

anti-inflammatory activity by inhibiting the cytokines TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-6⁵¹.

Regarding the CRP inflammatory protein, studies in the literature have shown that the ingestion of food containing a lignan complex reduce the release of this pro-inflammatory protein^{62,63}. In addition, the intake of lignan capsules reduced the levels of p53 and PUMA⁶⁴. However, for the inflammatory targets p53, PUMA and EGF, studies are still needed specifically evaluating the seven lignans object of this study.

According to the study that identified the seven ligands of OP1²³, all of them showed a strong antioxidant capacity for the radical peroxyl (ROO•), and this capacity was stronger in the subfractions than in the isolated compounds, which indicates a possible synergistic activity of these ligands²³. Knowing that propolis components exhibit better biological activities together, instead of isolates⁶⁵ the next strategy, in this study, assessed whether the 7 ligands would act synergistically.

Analyze of strategy II: Docking of multiple ligands

In this analysis the balajaponin D ligand was fixed to all inflammatory targets for the docking of multiple ligands since this molecule met the criteria previously established: 1) best result obtained in Strategy I, that is, the position model with the lowest energy expenditure; 2) the non-overlap of the selected model with the models of the other ligands; and 3) greater free radical scavenging power (antioxidant activity), indicated in a previous study of OP123.

Therefore, we evaluated all eight targets on the 'inflammatory target + balajaponin D' complex against the remaining six ligands.

From the data obtained (Table 5), it is possible to report that the ligands interacted with the target, with the interaction energy ranging from -8.66 to 0.24 kcal.mol⁻¹. The inflammatory target that presented the best overall result, that is, the interactions with the lowest energy expenditure were in TNF- α , with the energy Δ of -8.66 kcal.mol⁻¹ for the ligand (-)-secoisolariciresinol and -2.52 kcal.mol⁻¹ for the ligands coniferyl alcohol in ideal [(I)] and representative [(R)] forms.

From the data obtained (Table 5), the ligands (-)-secoisolariciresinol (Δ energetic -8.66 to -3.35 kcal.mol⁻¹), (+)-lariciresinol (Δ energetic -8.26 to -3.65 kcal.mol⁻¹), (+)-pinoresinol (Δ energetic -7.57 to -3.62 kcal.mol⁻¹), and (-)-matairesinol, in both forms, (Δ energetic -7.59 to - 3.47 kcal.mol⁻¹) showed the best interaction potential in general. Therefore, these ligands showed the greatest potential for combined interaction, considering that these interactions involved the 'inflammatory targets + balajaponin D' complex.

The ligand coniferyl aldehyde in the (I) and (R) forms showed weak interaction with the

targets when compared to the other ligands (Table 5). The values of these interactions varied between its forms ($\Delta_{(I)}$ energetic -4.92 to -3.90 kcal.mol⁻¹ and $\Delta_{(R)}$ energetic -4.66 to -2.92 kcal.mol⁻¹). The ligand coniferyl alcohol in (I) and (R) forms showed the worst interaction in general, having the lowest interaction value for the IL-1 β (-1.08 kcal.mol⁻¹) and the highest interaction value for the NF- κ B (0.24 kcal.mol⁻¹).

Ligand	Target + balajaponin D							
Liganu	IL-6	IL-1β	P53	PUMA	TNF-α	EGF	NF-ĸB	CRP
coniferyl alcohol(I)	-0.32	-0.89	0.23	-0.75	-2.52	-0.41	0.24	-1.08
$coniferyl \ alcohol_{(R)}$	-0.32	-0.89	0.23	-0.75	-2.52	-0.41	0.24	-1.08
coniferyl aldehyde(I)	-3.90	-4.92	-4.28	-4.04	-4.28	-4.28	-4.47	-4.71
coniferyl aldehyde(R)	-3.97	-4.02	-4.32	-2.92	-4.66	-4.00	-3.96	-4.49
(+)-lariciresinol	-5.26	-5.70	-5.06	-3.65	-8.26	-5.64	-5.32	-6.58
(-)-secoisolariciresinol	-5.05	-5.42	-5.17	-3.35	-8.66	-6.05	-5.58	-6.54
(+)-pinoresinol	-5.07	-4.95	-4.62	-3.62	-7.57	-4.49	-5.24	-5.36
(-)-matairesinol _(I)	-4.85	-5.29	-4.50	-3.47	-7.59	-4.05	-4.25	-6.56
(-)-matairesinol _(R)	-4.85	-5.29	-4.50	-3.47	-7.59	-4.05	-4.25	-6.56

Table 5. Results of strategy II: the affinity between the complex target + balajaponin D' and ligands (kcal.mol⁻¹).

(I) ideal and (R) representative forms of ligand

Analyzing the images of the results between the six ligands and the balajaponin D fixed to the eight selected targets (supporting information, Table $2S^3$) we observed positional convergence between some of the evaluated ligands and the balajaponin D.

Regarding CRP, EGF, IL-1 β , and p53, all six ligands interacted in the same region as balajaponin D.

Regarding the IL-6, only coniferyl aldehyde in the ideal form $[_{(I)}]$ did not interact at the same site as balajaponin D, while in the PUMA only the coniferyl aldehyde in the $_{(I)}$ and representative forms $[_{(R)}]$ did not interact at the same site as balajaponin D.

In the NF-kB, only the (+)-lariciresinol and (+)-pinoresinol ligands interacted at the same site as balajaponin D. In the TNF- α only the coniferval aldehyde in the _(R) form did not

³ O material suplementar, Table 2S está no APÊNDICE B

interact in the same site as balajaponin D.

Finally, it was observed that the residues in which the interactions between the selected targets and the ligands evaluated in this study occurred are protease enzymes (supporting information, Table 3S⁴). The residues identified were Ala, Arg, Asn, Asp, Cyx, Glu, Gln, Glh, Gly, Hie, His, Ile, Leu, Lys, Met, Phe, Pro, Thr, Trp, Tyr, Ser, Val

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first *in silico* study evaluating the interaction between lignans combined with other lignans and their precursors with OM-related targets.

The interactions observed in this *in silico* study (Table 5) are suggestive of beneficial interactions (additive or synergistic) of anti-inflammatory and antioxidant biological activities. These interactions observed here are confirmed in the study conducted by Tiveron and collaborators (2016)²³, who detected these same seven lignans in Brazilian organic propolis type 1 and related the anti-inflammatory and antioxidant activities with the synergy of the compounds present in the chemical profile of this propolis²³.

In multifactorial diseases (*e.g.* cancer and OM) there is a regulation by different molecular targets, and natural products are known to be able to act on different targets simultaneously⁶⁶, which is the requirement for the classification of a multi-target drug⁶⁷. Therefore, not only the chemical characterization of natural products has been of great interest in studies, but also the evaluation of possible combined activities (additive, synergistic or antagonistic) of the compounds of these products has also been proposed as essential for the elucidation of the effects biological, and potential therapeutic effects. Furthermore, the biological activities of a product can be derived from such synergistic interactions⁶⁶.

The combined active compounds are less likely to develop resistance by the body⁶⁶; increases treatment efficiency, as it is not specific to a single target; reduces toxicity and side effects⁶⁸. The use of combined natural products to enhance the effects of their compounds is secular, being traditional in older cultures such as Chinese, Japanese, Indian, among others⁵⁶. However, the validation of the interaction hypothesis of the compounds presented here by an *in silico* study should, in the future, be designed in non-clinical and clinical models.

Furthermore, residues in which interactions between targets and ligands occurred are present in proteases of the five classes found in humans: aspartic, serine, cysteine, threonine, and metallo. These enzymes act in several physiological processes (*e.g.* digestion, differentiation, cell signaling, immune defense, and apoptosis)⁶⁹ therefore, the regulation of

⁴ O material suplementar, Table 3S, está no APÊNDICE C

proteases is of great importance for the organism's homeostasis⁷⁰.

Therefore, inhibitors of such proteases have been investigated as potential therapies for inflammatory, immunological, cancer, neurodegenerative diseases, among other conditions. Inhibitors must have minimal peptide character, long life in the bloodstream and cells, be highly stable to non-selective proteolytic degradation, permeable to the membrane, must be highly selective, difficult to eliminate, and of good bioavailability (preferably by the oral administration). Most inhibitors are flexible molecules with energy expenditure to bind to proteases⁶⁹. Among the different mechanisms of protease activation, there is one that consists in the interruption of specific interactions and substitution by other proteases⁷⁰, therefore, as observed in this *in silico* study, the activation may have been interrupted by the interaction with the residues of the identified biomolecules of Brazilian organic propolis type 1 (ligands)²³.

The ligands that we studied, in addition to having demonstrated a possible good bioavailability based on the detected chemical interactions and the residues that the inflammatory targets interacted with the propolis molecules, can maintain their biological functions and are interacting with proteases that act directly in inflammatory processes, immunological diseases, and cancers.

Conclusion

The seven ligands showed site-specific interactions or not to benzydamine, which is the recommended drug for the prevention and treatment of oral mucositis, demonstrating that the interaction of these ligands in this *in silico* study has a great possibility of acting alone or in association in interfering with the process multifactorial aspect of oral mucositis.

All seven molecules of type 1 organic propolis (ligands) have satisfactorily bounded to inflammatory targets related to oral mucositis, which reinforces the possible anti-inflammatory activity of these molecules: coniferyl alcohol, coniferyl aldehyde, (+)-lariciresinol, (-)-secoisolariciresinol, balajaponin D, (+)-pinoresinol, and (-)-matairesinol. We also noticed the possible synergistic action of all the seven molecules, identifying that such compounds can have potential protease inhibitory activity. Therefore, the seven lignans studied *in silico* are strong candidates for *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies, for complete verification of such activities in oral mucositis and other inflammatory pathological processes.

Experimental section

The methodology that was adopted for this *in silico* study comprised the definition of the inflammatory targets involved in oral mucositis (OM), that is, the possible targets; the

compounds identified in organic propolis type 1 (OP1), called ligands; obtainment the threedimensional (3D) structures of the targets and ligands; Lipinski's 'rule of 5' for the assessment of oral bioavailability (analyzing the parameters of solubility and permeability) and gastrointestinal absorption; and the choice of the operating system, the software and the strategies adopted to perform the docking of a ligand and multiple ligands.

Inflammatory targets of OM

Adopting the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) strategy⁷¹, the targets and ligands were selected. The inflammatory targets involved in the manifestation of OM were selected through research in the online databases PubMed/Medline and Google Scholar. The search filter (supporting information, Table 4S⁵) was built based on the PubMed/Medline platform, containing two levels of research: (i) clinical condition (oral mucositis) and (ii) inflammatory mediators (inflammatory targets). For this, standardized descriptors and keywords were used based on the Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) database. The search filters were built associating the descriptors, Boolean operators (AND/OR/NOT) and the search algorithms [MeSH Terms] and [TIAB]⁷².

The studies were accessed in full text and included in the eligibility analysis, in which welldefined inclusion and exclusion criteria were adopted. Studies addressing inflammatory targets related to mucositis (*e.g.* cytokines, chemokines, and growth factors) caused by radiotherapy and/or chemotherapy were considered to be potentially relevant. The following studies were excluded: (i) not available in full text; (ii) gray literature (not indexed and not published in formal scientific review journals); (iii) studies that do not address the outcomes of interest; (iv) secondary studies (*e.g.* letters to the editor, conference summaries, comments, notes, and books); (v) studies that do not have at least one control group; (vi) studies with self-control and (vii) studies with multiple interventions that hinder access to the relationship between mucositis and related targets.

The reference lists of the selected articles were also verified, emphasizing that they contributed to the collection of several targets73. The selected targets are eight: TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6, p53, PUMA^{14,31}, NF- κ B¹², EGF, and CRP⁷⁴.

Ligand molecules

The ligand molecules were those referenced by Tiveron et al., $(2020)^{23}$ identified from

⁵ O material suplementar, Table 4S está no APÊNDICE D

OP1. These molecules belong to the chemical category of lignans and lignans precursors and have been considered as the chemical markers of OP1. Thus, the binding molecules that were evaluated in this study are seven: coniferyl alcohol, coniferyl aldehyde, (+)-lariciresinol, (-)-secoisolariciresinol, balajaponin D, (+)-pinoresinol, and (-)-matairesinol.

Three-dimensional structure (3D) of inflammatory targets and ligands

The three-dimensional (3D) structures of inflammatory targets related to OM used for molecular docking were obtained on the database Protein Data Bank (https://www.rcsb.org/)⁷⁵ (supporting information, Table 5S⁶).

The 3D structures of the ligand molecules were collected on the PubChem platform (https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/), Cambridge Crystallographic Data Center (CCDC) (https://www.ccdc.cam.ac.uk/), and Protein Data Bank in Europe (PDBe) (https://www.ebi.ac.uk/pdbe/) (supporting information, Table 6S⁷).

Lipinski's 'rule of 5' and gastrointestinal absorption applied to ligands

Lipinski's 'rule of 5' and gastrointestinal absorption of ligands was analyzed in the 'pre' and 'post' docking moments, with this last one being applied only for those ligands that presented the 'ideal' and 'representative' forms⁴². Lipinski's values were analyzed to determine whether the ligands under study showed good oral availability, that is, whether they meet the criteria of solubility and permeability of drugs under administration by this route⁴¹.

Lipinski's 'rule of 5' has four experimental and computational parameters, namely: 1) molecular weight up to 500 (MWT); 2) MLogP (octanol/water partition coefficient) up to 4.15; 3) up to 10 H-bond receptors (N or O); and 4) up to 5 H-bond donors (NH or OH)⁴².

Gastrointestinal absorption was determined based on the prediction model BOILED-Egg (Brain Or Intestinal Estimated permeation). This model is based on the lipophilicity and polarity of the molecules for the evaluation of passive gastrointestinal absorption and access to the brain by passive diffusion⁷⁶.

At the pre-docking moment, the SMILES of the selected ligands were obtained from the platforms where the 3D structure of the ligands was downloaded. For the post-docking analysis, the *OPENBABEL-Chemical file format converter* website was used to obtain the SMILES of the structures generated from the docking. To obtain the values of Lipinski and gastrointestinal

⁶ O material suplementar, Table 5S está no APÊNDICE E

⁷ O material suplementar, Table 6S está no APÊNDICE F

absorption, the website SwissADME was used (http://www.swissadme.ch/)⁴³.

In case of identical values between 'ideal' [(I)] and 'representative' [(R)] forms of ligands in the pre-docking moment, the criteria adopted was based on the results in the post-docking moment, with the Lipinski rule being a determinant for choosing the form that would follow in the study.

To obtain the values of Lipinski and gastrointestinal absorption, the SwissADME website was used⁴³.

The SMILES of the compounds in the 'pre' and 'post' docking moments are found in supporting information, Table 7S and Table 8S⁸, respectively.

Molecular docking assay

The docking study between inflammatory targets and ligands was based on the semiflexible type with structural changes only in the ligands since they are small molecules. The best approach is the one that adopts the prediction of conformational changes only in the ligands^{27,77,78}.

For this research, we adopted two methodological strategies: Strategy I - docking of a single ligand, and Strategy II - docking of multiple ligands.

The operating systems used were Linux Ubuntu 20.04 (Strategy I) and Windows 2010 (Strategy II) for the operationalization of the software Maestro, to carry out docking simulations according to the strategies adopted.

Strategy I: Single ligand docking

Each of the eight inflammatory targets and each of the seven ligands was treated with the software MGLTools[®] 1.5.6^{27,77,78} and AutoDock Vina[®] 1.1.2⁷⁹, where the most promising binding site on the target was identified based on the lowest energy binding expenditure, that is, of better affinity⁸⁰. Details of this methodology adopted in this strategy are available in supporting information, Table 9S⁹. The AutoDock Vina[®] software selected the nine best position models in which these connections occurred, called position model 1 to position model 9, with model 1 being the one with the lowest energy expenditure. This procedure to identify the connection with the lowest energy expenditure was repeated 20 times⁷⁵.

To enrich the understanding of docking simulations between targets and ligands, we also

⁸ O material suplementar, Table 7S e Table 8S está no APÊNDICE G e H, respectivamente

⁹ O material suplementar, Table 9S está no APÊNDICE I

included in this strategy the performance of docking using the drug benzydamine, which has been proposed as a preventive and therapeutic treatment for OM¹⁶. Benzydamine will be used as a comparison parameter (control) with the seven ligands proposed in this study.

Strategy II: Multiple ligands docking

One ligand was fixed to all the eight inflammatory targets to assess the interaction between the other ligands. The fixed ligand was selected according to the following criteria: 1) best result obtained in Strategy I, that is, the position model with the lowest energy expenditure; 2) the non-overlap of the selected model with the models of the other ligands; and 3) greater free radical scavenging power (antioxidant activity), indicated in a previous study of OP1²³.

For the verification of the non-overlap of the ligand fixed with the other ligands, as in the criterion previously established, the methodology described^{81,82} was modified in this study to visualize the interaction between multiple ligands, using the software MGLTools[®] and Maestro[©] 12.8 (Schrodinger, Nova York, USA). The inflammatory targets and ligands were selected in the complex 'target + fixed ligand' and 'target + other ligands'. So, both molds were read to confirm the non-overlap between the ligands, using the Maestro[©] software⁸³.

The antioxidant activity was determined as a biological criterion since one of the possible development mechanisms of OM is the release of oxidizing agents, which generate free radicals^{7,14,15}.

To carry out the docking, we adopted the methodology described by the company Schrodinger, developer of the Maestro software⁸⁴. The inflammatory targets were prepared using the Receptor Grid Generation tool according to the described protocol: the size of the target was determined; the fixed ligand was detected, as well as the chemical interactions and regions where it interacted with the inflammatory target, to be disregarded in the docking.

To prepare the ligand, the LigPrep⁸⁵ tool was accessed, specifying the conditions for carrying out the docking. In addition, the ligand preparation identifies all the possible positions that the ligand can adopt. Therefore, the number of positions resulting from the docking is dependent on the positional capacity of the ligand detected in this preparation step. Details of this methodology adopted in this strategy are available at⁸⁴.

After preparing the inflammatory targets and ligands, the docking was performed with the Ligand Docking tool, which generates the results of the docking and interactions obtained by the software. From the results observed, only the position of lowest energy expenditure was selected.

Supporting Information

Detailed results; additional experimental details, materials, and methods, including photographs and videos of the experimental setup.

Abbreviations Used

OM, oral mucositis; OP1, organic propolis type 1; EGF, epidermal growth factor; (i), ideal form; (R), representative form.

References

- K. Kim, M. Kakitani, J. Zhao, T. Oshima, T. Tang, M. Binnerts, Y. Liu, B. Boyle, E. Park,
 P. Emtage, W.D. Funk, K. Tomizuka, Mitogenic Influence of Human R-Spondin1 on the Intestinal Epithelium, Science. 309 (2005) 1256–1260. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1112521.
- [2] F. Zhao, C. Falk, W. Osen, M. Kato, D. Schadendorf, V. Umansky, Activation of p38 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Drives Dendritic Cells to Become Tolerogenic in Ret Transgenic Mice Spontaneously Developing Melanoma, CLINICAL CANCER RESEARCH. 15 (2009) 4382–4390. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-0399.
- M. Salehi, M. Saeedi, A. Ghorbani, P. Ghodrati, M. Moosazadeh, S. Rostamkalaei,
 M.B. Hatkehlouei, T. Molania, The effect of propolis tablet on oral mucositis caused by
 chemotherapy, Gazi Medical Journal. 29 (2018) 196–201.
 https://doi.org/10.12996/gmj.2018.55.
- [4] R. V. Lalla, S.T. Sonis, D.E. Peterson, Management of Oral Mucositis in Patients Who Have Cancer, The Dental Clinics of North America. 52 (2008) 61–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cden.2007.10.002.
- [5] S.T. Sonis, The pathobiology of mucositis, Nature Reviews Cancer. 4 (2004) 277–284. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc1318.
- [6] H.Y. Sroussi, J.B. Epstein, R.-J. Bensadoun, D.P. Saunders, R. V. Lalla, C.A. Migliorati, N. Heaivilin, Z.S. Zumsteg, Common oral complications of head and neck cancer radiation therapy: mucositis, infections, saliva change, fibrosis, sensory dysfunctions, dental caries, periodontal disease, and osteoradionecrosis, Cancer Medicine. 6 (2017) 2918–2931. https://doi.org/10.1002/cam4.1221.
- [7] R. V. Lalla, C.C. Pilbeam, S.J. Walsh, S.T. Sonis, D.M.K. Keefe, D.E. Peterson, Role of the cyclooxygenase pathway in chemotherapy-induced oral mucositis: a pilot study, Supportive Care in Cancer. 18 (2010) 95–103. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-009-0635-1.

- [8] R.M. Vasconcelos, N. Sanfilippo, B.J. Paster, A.R. Kerr, Y. Li, L. Ramalho, E.L. Queiroz,
 B. Smith, S.T. Sonis, P.M. Corby, Host-Microbiome Cross-talk in Oral Mucositis,
 Journal of Dental Research. 95 (2016) 725–733.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0022034516641890.
- [9] H. Wang, H. Yang, K.J. Tracey, Extracellular role of HMGB1 in inflammation and sepsis, Journal of Internal Medicine. 255 (2004) 320–331. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2796.2003.01302.x.
- S.B. Jensen, D.E. Peterson, Oral mucosal injury caused by cancer therapies : current management and new frontiers in research, Oral Pathology & Medicini. 43 (2014) 81– 90. https://doi.org/10.1111/jop.12135.
- P. Riley, A.-M. Glenny, H. V Worthington, A. Littlewood, L.M. Fernandez Mauleffinch, J.E. Clarkson, M.G. McCabe, Interventions for preventing oral mucositis in patients with cancer receiving treatment: cytokines and growth factors, Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. (2017) 1–197. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD011990.pub2.
- [12] G. Han, L. Bian, F. Li, A. Cotrim, D. Wang, J.B. Lu, Deng. Yu, G. Bird, A. Sowers, J.B. Mitchell, J.S. Gutkind, R. Zhao, D. Raben, P. ten Dijke, Y. Refaeli, Q. Zhang, X.-J. Wang, Preventive and therapeutic effects of Smad7 on radiation- induced oral mucositis, NATURE MEDICINE. 19 (2013) 421–428. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3118.
- [13] H.E. Harris, U. Andersson, D.S. Pisetsky, HMGB1: A multifunctional alarmin driving autoimmune and inflammatory disease, Nature Reviews Rheumatology. 8 (2012) 195– 202. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrrheum.2011.222.
- [14] K.-I. Im, Y.-S. Nam, N. Kim, Y. Song, E.-S. Lee, J.-Y. Lim, Y.-W. Jeon, S.-G. Cho, Regulation of HMGB1 release protects chemoradiotherapy-associated mucositis, MUCOSAL IMMUNOLOGY. 12 (2019) 1070–1081. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41385-019-0132-x.
- [15] S. Sonis, New thoughts on the initiation of mucositis, Oral Diseases. 16 (2010) 597– 600. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1601-0825.2010.01681.x.
- [16] S. Elad, F.K.K. Cheng, R. V Lalla, N. Yarom, C. Hong, R.M. Logan, J. Bowen, R. Gibson, D.P. Saunders, Y. Zadik, A. Ariyawardana, M.E. Correa, V. Ranna, P. Bossi, MASCC/ISOO Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Management of Mucositis Secondary to Cancer Therapy, Cancer. 126 (2020) 4423–4431. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.33100.
- [17] M. Franchin, I.A. Freires, J.G. Lazarini, B.D. Nani, M.G. da Cunha, D.F. Colón, S.M.

de Alencar, P.L. Rosalen, The use of Brazilian propolis for discovery and development of novel anti-inflammatory drugs, European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 153 (2018) 49–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2017.06.050.

- [18] B.D. Nani, J. de C.O. Sardi, J.G. Lazarini, D.R. Silva, A.P. Massariolli, T.M. Cunha, S.M. de Alencar, M. Franchin, P.L. Rosalen, Anti-inflammatory and anti- Candida Effects of Brazilian Organic Propolis, a Promising Source of Bioactive Molecules and Functional Food, Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry. 68 (2020) 2861–2871. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.8b07304.
- [19] K. Münstedt, H. Männle, Using Bee Products for the Prevention and Treatment of Oral Mucositis Induced by Cancer Treatment, Molecules. 24 (2019) 3023. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules24173023.
- [20] J.M. Sforcin, Biological Properties and Therapeutic Applications of Propolis, Phytotherapy Research. 30 (2016) 894–905. https://doi.org/10.1002/ptr.5605.
- [21] A.P. Tiveron, P.L. Rosalen, M. Franchin, R.C.C. Lacerda, B. Bueno-Silva, B. Benso, C. Denny, M. Ikegaki, S.M. de Alencar, Chemical Characterization and Antioxidant, Antimicrobial, and Anti-Inflammatory Activities of South Brazilian Organic Propolis, PLOS ONE. 11 (2016) e0165588. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0165588.
- [22] I. Przybyłek, Antibacterial Properties of Propolis, Molecules. 24 (2019) 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules24112047.
- [23] A.P. Tiveron, P.L. Rosalen, A.G. Ferreira, M.S. Thomasi, A.P. Massarioli, M. Ikegaki, M. Franchin, A.G. de O. Sartori, S.M. De Alencar, Lignans as new chemical markers of a certified Brazilian organic propolis, Natural Product Research. 0 (2020) 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1080/14786419.2020.1839459.
- [24] J. Blaney, A very short history of structure-based design: How did we get here and where do we need to go?, Journal of Computer-Aided Molecular Design. 26 (2012) 13–14. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10822-011-9518-x.
- [25] S. Czarnota, L.O. Johannissen, N.J. Baxter, F. Rummel, A.L. Wilson, M.J. Cliff, C.W. Levy, N.S. Scrutton, J.P. Waltho, S. Hay, Equatorial Active Site Compaction and Electrostatic Reorganization in Catechol O methyltransferase, ACS Catalysis. 9 (2019) 4394–4401. https://doi.org/10.1021/acscatal.9b00174.
- [26] D.B. Roche, D.A. Brackenridge, L.J. Mcguffin, Proteins and Their Interacting Partners : An Introduction to Protein – Ligand Binding Site Prediction Methods, International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 16 (2015) 29829–29842. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms161226202.
- [27] X. Tao, Y. Huang, C. Wang, F. Chen, L. Yang, L. Ling, Z. Che, X. Chen, Recent developments in molecular docking technology applied in food science: a review, International Journal of Food Science and Technology. 55 (2020) 33–45. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijfs.14325.
- [28] I.A. Freires, J. de C.O. Sardi, R.D. de Castro, P.L. Rosalen, Alternative Animal and Non-Animal Models for Drug Discovery and Development: Bonus or Burden?, Pharmaceutical Research. 34 (2017) 681–686. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-016-2069-z.
- [29] D.R. Silva, J. de C.O. Sardi, I.A. Freires, A.C.B. Silva, P.L. Rosalen, In silico approaches for screening molecular targets in Candida albicans: A proteomic insight into drug discovery and development, European Journal of Pharmacology. 842 (2019) 64–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2018.10.016.
- [30] K. Im, Y. Nam, N. Kim, Y. Song, E. Lee, J. Lim, Y. Jeon, S.-G. Cho, Regulation of HMGB1 release protects chemoradiotherapy-associated mucositis, Mucosal Immunology. 12 (2019) 1070–1081. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41385-019-0132-x.
- [31] M. Cinausero, G. Aprile, P. Ermacora, D. Basile, M.G. Vitale, V. Fanotto, G. Parisi, L. Calvetti, S.T. Sonis, New Frontiers in the New Frontiers in the Pathobiology and Treatment of Cancer Regimen-Related Mucosal Injury, Frontiers in Pharmacology. 8 (2017) 1–16. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2017.00354.
- [32] O. Aprelikova, C.C. Tomlinson, M. Hoenerhoff, J.A. Hixon, S.K. Durum, T.-H. Qiu, S. He, S. Burkett, Z.-Y. Liu, S.M. Swanson, J.E. Green, Development and Preclinical Application of an Immunocompetent Transplant Model of Basal Breast Cancer with Lung, Liver and Brain Metastases., PloS One. 11 (2016) e0155262. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0155262.
- [33] N. Al-Dasooqi, S.T. Sonis, J.M. Bowen, E. Bateman, N. Blijlevens, R.J. Gibson, R.M. Logan, R.G. Nair, A.M. Stringer, R. Yazbeck, S. Elad, R. V Lalla, Emerging evidence on the pathobiology of mucositis, Supportive Care in Cancer. 21 (2013) 2075–2083. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-013-1810-y.
- [34] S.C.M. Barbosa, V.B.M. Pereira, D.V.T. Wong, A.P.M. Santana, L.T. Lucetti, L.L. Carvalho, C.R.N. Barbosa, R.B. Callado, C.A.A. Silva, C.D.H. Lopes, G.A.C. Brito, N.M.N. Alencar, R.C.P. Lima-Júnior, Amifostine reduces inflammation and protects against 5-fluorouracil-induced oral mucositis and hyposalivation, Brazilian Journal of Medical and Biological Research. 52 (2019) 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1590/1414-431X20188251.

- [35] R. V Lalla, C.C. Pilbeam, S.J. Walsh, S.T. Sonis, D.M.K. Keefe, D.E. Peterson, Role of the cyclooxygenase pathway in chemotherapy-induced oral mucositis : a pilot study, Support Care Cancer. 18 (2010) 95–103. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-009-0635-1.
- [36] Y. Ki, W. Kim, J. Nam, D. Kim, D. Park, D. Kim, C-Reactive Protein Levels and Radiation-Induced Mucositis in Patients With Head-and-Neck Cancer, International Journal of Radiation Oncology Biology Physics. 75 (2009) 393–398. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijrobp.2008.11.012.
- [37] L. Chen, H. Deng, H. Cui, J. Fang, Z. Zuo, J. Deng, Y. Li, X. Wang, L. Zhao, Oncotarget 7204 www.impactjournals.com/oncotarget Inflammatory responses and inflammationassociated diseases in organs, Oncotarget. 9 (2018) 7204–7218. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.23208.
- [38] A.T. Sougiannis, B.N. VanderVeen, J.M. Davis, D. Fan, E.A. Murphy, Understanding chemotherapy-induced intestinal mucositis and strategies to improve gut resilience, American Journal of Physiology - Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology. 320 (2021) G712–G719. https://doi.org/10.1152/AJPGI.00380.2020.
- [39] A.J. Brenner, J. Floyd, L. Fichtel, J. Michalek, K.P. Kanakia, S. Huang, D. Reardon, P.Y. Wen, E.Q. Lee, Phase 2 trial of hypoxia activated evofosfamide (TH302) for treatment of recurrent bevacizumab-refractory glioblastoma, Scientific Reports. 11 (2021) 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-81841-0.
- [40] S. Soleymani, S. Habtemariam, R. Rahimi, S.M. Nabavi, The what and who of dietary lignans in human health: Special focus on prooxidant and antioxidant effects, Trends in Food Science and Technology. 106 (2020) 382–390. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2020.10.015.
- [41] L.Z. Benet, C.M. Hosey, O. Ursu, T.I. Oprea, BDDCS, the Rule of 5 and Drugability, Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews. 101 (2016) 89–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2016.05.007.BDDCS.
- [42] C.A. Lipinski, F. Lombardo, B.W. Dominy, P.J. Feeney, Experimental and computational approaches to estimate solubility and permeability in drug discovery and development settings, Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews. 46 (2001) 3–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2012.09.019.
- [43] A. Daina, O. Michielin, V. Zoete, SwissADME: a free web tool to evaluate pharmacokinetics, drug- likeness and medicinal chemistry friendliness of small molecules, Scientific Reports. 7 (2017) 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep42717.
- [44] A.F. Brito, Y. Zang, A review of Lignan Metabolism, Milk Enterolactone Concentration,

And Antioxidant Status of Dairy Cows Fed Flaxseed, Molecules. 24 (2018) 1–21. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules24010041.

- [45] D.Q. Thach, T.J. Maimone, Making light work of lignan synthesis, Nature Chemistry. 13 (2021) 5–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41557-020-00615-9.
- [46] I.E.J. Milder, I.C.W. Arts, B. van de Putte, D.P. Venema, P.C.H. Hollman, Lignan contents of Dutch plant foods: a database including lariciresinol, pinoresinol, secoisolariciresinol and matairesinol, British Journal of Nutrition. 93 (2005) 393–402. https://doi.org/10.1079/bjn20051371.
- S. Heinonen, T. Nurmi, K. Liukkonen, K. Poutanen, K. Wahala, T. Deyama, S. Nishibe,
 H. Adlercreutz, In Vitro Metabolism of Plant Lignans : New Precursors of Mammalian
 Lignans Enterolactone and Enterodiol, Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry. 49
 (2001) 3178–3186. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf010038a.
- [48] I.C.W. Arts, P.C.H. Hollman, Polyphenols and disease risk in epidemiologic studies, The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 81 (2005) 317S-325S. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/81.1.317S.
- Q. Dai, A.A. Franke, F. Jin, X.-O. Shu, J.R. Hebert, L.J. Custer, J. Cheng, Y.-T. Gao,
 W. Zheng, Urinary Excretion of Phytoestrogens and Risk of Breast Cancer among
 Chinese Women in Shanghai, Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention. 11
 (2002) 815–821. https://cebp.aacrjournals.org/content/cebp/11/9/815.full.pdf.
- [50] Y.N. Sun, W. Li, S.B. Song, X.T. Yan, S.Y. Yang, Y.H. Kim, NF- κB Inhibitory Activities of Phenolic and Lignan Components from the Stems of Acanthopanax divaricatus var. albeofructus, Natural Product Sciences. 20 (2014) 232–236.
- [51] Y. Wang, Y. Gao, X. Li, X. Sun, Z. Wang, H. Wang, R. Nie, W. Yu, Y. Zhou, Coniferyl Aldehyde Inhibits the Inflammatory Effects of Leptomeningeal Cells by Suppressing the JAK2 Signaling, BioMed Research International. 2020 (2020) 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/4616308.
- [52] M. Vanharanta, S. Voutilainem, T.H. Rissanen, H. Adlercreuz, J.T. Salonen, Risk of Cardiovascular Disease-Related and All-Cause Death According to Serum Concentrations of Enterolactone, Arch Intern Med. 163 (2003) 1099–1104. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.163.9.1099.
- [53] P. Morgan, M. Mangal, C.-W. Lin, In silico Study of 1,687 FDA Approved Drugs and 612 Natural Products Reveals Benzydamine's Potential as a Direct Inhibitor of TNF-a, International Research Journal of Pharmacy and Medical Sciences. 2 (2018) 13–18. https://doi.org/doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.2539064.

- [54] C. Pulito, A. Cristaudo, C. la Porta, S. Zapperi, G. Blandino, A. Morrone, S. Strano, Oral mucositis: the hidden side of cancer therapy, Journal of Experimental & Clinical Cancer Research. 39 (2020) 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13046-020-01715-7.
- [55] M. Piredda, G. Facchinetti, V. Biagioli, D. Giannarelli, G. Armento, G. Tonini, M.G. de Marinis, Propolis in the prevention of oral mucositis in breast cancer patients receiving adjuvant chemotherapy: A pilot randomised controlled trial, European Journal of Cancer Care. 26 (2017) 10.1111/ecc.12757. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecc.12757.
- [56] S. Hemalswarya, M. Doble, Potential synergism of natural products in the treatment of cancer, Phytotherapy Research. 20 (2006) 239–249. https://doi.org/10.1002/ptr.1841.
- [57] P. Xu, M.W. Huang, C.X. Xiao, F. Long, Y. Wang, S.Y. Liu, W.W. Jia, W.J. Wu, D. Yang, J.F. Hu, X.H. Liu, Y.Z. Zhu, Matairesinol Suppresses Neuroinflammation and Migration Associated with Src and ERK1/2-NF-κB Pathway in Activating BV2 Microglia, Neurochemical Research. 42 (2017) 2850–2860. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11064-017-2301-1.
- [58] M. Iqbal, R. Verpoorte, H.A.A.J. Korthout, N.R. Mustafa, Phytochemicals as a potential source for TNF-alpha inhibitors, Phytochemistry Reviews. 12 (2013) 65–93. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11101-012-9251-7.
- [59] O. Nicolatou-Galitis, P. Bossi, E. Orlandi, R.-J. Bensadoun, The role of benzydamine in prevention and treatment of chemoradiotherapy-induced mucositis, Supportive Care in Cancer. (2021) 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-021-06048-5.
- [60] A. During, C. Debouche, T. Raas, Y. Larondelle, Among Plant Lignans, Pinoresinol Has the Strongest Antiinflammatory Properties in Human Intestinal Caco-2 Cells, The Journal of Nutrition. 142 (2012) 1798–1805. https://doi.org/10.3945/jn.112.162453.
- [61] C.I. Keeling, K.N. Slessor, H.A. Higo, M.L. Winston, New components of the honey bee (Apis mellifera L.) queen retinue pheromone, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 100 (2003) 4486–4491. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0836984100.
- [62] J. Hallund, I. Tetens, S. Bugel, T. Tholstrup, J.M. Bruun, The effect of a lignan complex isolated from flaxseed on inflammation markers in healthy postmenopausal women, Nutrition, Metabolism & Cardiovascular Diseases. 18 (2008) 497–502. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.numecd.2007.05.007.
- [63] A. Pan, W. Demark-Wahnefried, X. Ye, Z. Yu, H. Li, Q. Qi, J. Sun, Y. Chen, X. Chen, Y. Liu, X. Lin, Effects of a flaxseed-derived lignan supplement on C-reactive protein, IL-6 and retinol-binding protein 4 in type 2 diabetic patients, British Journal of Nutrition. 101

(2009) 1145–1149. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114508061527.

- [64] K.L. Allen, D.R. Tschantz, K.S. Awad, W.P. Lynch, A.L. DeLucia, A Plant Lignan, 3'-O-Methyl-Nordihydroguaiaretic Acid, Suppresses Papillomavirus E6 Protein Function, Stabilizes p53 Protein, and Induces Apoptosis in Cervical Tumor Cells, Molecular Carcinogenesis. 46 (2007) 564–575. https://doi.org/10.1002/mc.20305.
- [65] V. Bankova, M.C. Marcucci, S. Simova, N. Nikolova, A. Kujumgiev, S. Popov, Antibacterial diterpenic acids from Brazilian propolis, Zeitschrift Fur Naturforschung Section C - Journal of Biosciences. 51 (1996) 7–10. https://doi.org/10.1515/znc-1996-5-602.
- [66] L.K. Caesar, N.B. Cech, Synergy and antagonism in natural product extracts: when 1
 + 1 does not equal 2, Natural Product Reports. 36 (2019) 845–936.
- [67] R. Morphy, Z. Rankovic, Designed multiple ligands. An emerging drug discovery paradigm, Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 48 (2005) 6523–6543. https://doi.org/10.1021/jm058225d.
- [68] J. de O. Viana, M.B. Félix, M.D.S. Maia, V. de L. Serafim, L. Scotti, M.T. Scotti, Drug discovery and computational strategies in the multitarget drugs era, Brazilian Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences. 54 (2018) 1–25. https://doi.org/10.1590/s2175-97902018000001010.
- [69] D. Leung, G. Abbenante, D.P. Fairlie, Protease Inhibitors : Current Status and Future Prospects, Journal of Medicinal Chemistry. 43 (2000) 305–341. https://doi.org/10.1021/jm990412m.
- [70] L. Boon, E. Ugarte-Berzal, J. Vandooren, G. Opdenakker, Protease propeptide structures, mechanisms of activation, and functions, Critical Reviews in Biochemistry and Molecular Biology. 55 (2020) 111–165. https://doi.org/10.1080/10409238.2020.1742090.
- [71] D. Moher, A. Liberati, J. Tetzlaff, D.G. Altman, Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses: The PRISMA Statement, Plos Medicine. 6 (2009) 6. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1000097.
- [72] C.-C. Kuo, R.-H. Wang, H.-H. Wang, C.-H. Li, Meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials of the efficacy of propolis mouthwash in cancer therapy-induced oral mucositis, Supportive Care in Cancer. 26 (2018) 4001–4009. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-018-4344-5.
- [73] C.-C. Kuo, R.-H. Wang, H.-H. Wang, C.-H. Li, Meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials of the efficacy of propolis mouthwash in cancer therapy-induced oral mucositis.,

Supportive Care in Cancer: Official Journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer. 26 (2018) 4001–4009. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-018-4344-5.

- [74] A.G.C. Normando, C.L. Rocha, I.P. de Toledo, P.T. de Souza Figueiredo, P.E.D. dos Reis, G. De Luca Canto, E.N.S. Guerra, Biomarkers in the assessment of oral mucositis in head and neck cancer patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis, Supportive Care in Cancer. 25 (2017) 2969–2988. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-017-3783-8.
- [75] M.K.S. Siam, A. Sarker, M.M.S. Sayeem, In silico drug design and molecular docking studies targeting Akt1 (RAC-alpha serine/serine/threonine-protein kinase) proteins and investigation of CYP (cytochrome P450) inhibitors against MAOB (monoamine oxidase B) for OSCC (oral squamous cell) treatment, Journal of Biomolecular Structure and Dynamics. 0 (2020) 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1080/07391102.2020.1802335.
- [76] A. Daina, V. Zoete, A BOILED-Egg To Predict Gastrointestinal Absorption and Brain Penetration of Small Molecules, ChemMedChem. 11 (2016) 1117–1121. https://doi.org/10.1002/cmdc.201600182.
- [77] G.M. Morris, R. Huey, W. Lindstrom, M.F. Sanner, R.K. Belew, D.S. Goodsell, A.J. Olson, AutoDock4 and AutoDockTools4 : Automated docking with selective receptor flexibility, Journal of Computational Chemistry. 30 (2009) 2785–2791. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcc.
- [78] S. Roy, B.K. Narang, M.K. Gupta, V. Abbot, V. Singh, R.K. Rawal, Molecular Docking Studies on Isocytosine Analogues as Xanthine Oxidase Inhibitors, Molecular Docking Studies on Drug Research. 68 (2018) 395–402. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0043-125210.
- [79] O. Trott, A.J. Olson, AutoDock Vina: improving the speed and accuracy of docking with a new scoring function, efficient optimization and multithreading, Journal of Computational Chemistry. 31 (2010) 455–461. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcc.21334.AutoDock.
- [80] G.M. Morris, R. Huey, A.J. Olson, Using AutoDock for Ligand-Receptor Docking, Current Protocols in Bioinformatics. 24 (2008) 8.14.1-8.14.40. https://doi.org/10.1002/0471250953.bi0814s24.
- [81] S.E. Adeniji, S. Uba, A. Uzairu, In silico study for evaluating the binding mode and interaction of 1, 2, 4-triazole and its derivatives as potent inhibitors against Lipoate protein B (LipB), Journal of King Saud University - Science. 32 (2020) 475–485.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jksus.2018.07.014.

- [82] J.P. Arcon, C.P. Modenutti, D. Avendaño, E.D. Lopez, L.A. Defelipe, F.A. Ambrosio, A.G. Turjanski, S. Forli, M.A. Marti, AutoDock Bias: Improving binding mode prediction and virtual screening using known protein-ligand interactions, Bioinformatics. 35 (2019) 3836–3838. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btz152.
- [83] B. Ramachandran, S. Kesavan, T. Rajkumar, Molecular modeling and docking of small molecule inhibitors against NEK2, Bioinformation. 12 (2016) 62–68. https://doi.org/10.6026/97320630012062.
- [84] Schrödinger, Glide Quick Start Guide, (2021). https://www.schrodinger.com/sites/default/files/s3/mkt/Documentation/2021-1/docs/Documentation.htm#glide_quick_start/glide_quick_startTOC.htm (accessed August 6, 2021).
- [85] Schrödinger, LigPrep Quick Start Guide, (2021). https://www.schrodinger.com/sites/default/files/s3/mkt/Documentation/2021-1/docs/Documentation.htm#ligprep_quick_start/ligprep_quick_startTOC.htm%3FToc Path%3DQuick%2520Start%2520Guides%7CLigPrep%2520Quick%2520Start%252 0Guide%7C____1.

3 CONSIDERAÇÕES FINAIS

44

As sete biomoléculas identificadas na Própolis Orgânica Brasileira tipo 1 (PO1) avaliadas neste estudo *in silico* demonstraram possível atividade inibitória para com os alvos inflamatórios IL-6, IL-1 β , P53, PUMA, TNF- α , EGF, NF- κ B e CRP, que são citocinas relacionadas ao processo inflamatório da mucosite oral (MO). Também, todas as sete biomoléculas identificadas na PO1 sugerem possível atividade combinada (multialvo). A capacidade multialvo é de grande interesse no tratamento de doenças multifatoriais, como a MO e câncer. Por fim, essas biomoléculas também apresentaram potencial atividade inibitória em resíduos de enzimas proteases. Devido a todas essas promissoras atividades detectadas *in silico*, temos que todas as sete biomoléculas da PO1 são candidatas promissoras para estudos *in vitro* e *in vivo* na busca por agentes adequados à prevenção e ao tratamento da MO.

REFERÊNCIAS

ADENIJI, S. E.; UBA, S.; UZAIRU, A. In silico study for evaluating the binding mode and interaction of 1, 2, 4-triazole and its derivatives as potent inhibitors against Lipoate protein B (LipB). Journal of King Saud University - Science, [S.L.], v. 32, n. 1, p. 475–485, 2020.

AL-DASOOQI, N. et al. Emerging evidence on the pathobiology of mucositis. **Supportive Care in Cancer**, [S.L.], v. 21, n. 7, p. 2075–2083, 21 jul. 2013.

ALLEN, K. L. et al. A plant lignan, 3'-O-Methyl-Nordihydroguaiaretic acid, suppresses papillomavirus E6 protein function, stabilizes p53 protein, and induces apoptosis in cervical tumor cells. **Molecular Carcinogenesis**, [S.L.], v. 46, n. 7, p. 564–575, jul. 2007.

APRELIKOVA, O. et al. Development and Preclinical Application of an Immunocompetent Transplant Model of Basal Breast Cancer with Lung, Liver and Brain Metastases. **PloS one**, [S.L.], v. 11, n. 5, p. e0155262, 2016.

ARCON, J. P. et al. AutoDock Bias: Improving binding mode prediction and virtual screening using known protein-ligand interactions. **Bioinformatics**, [S.L.], v. 35, n. 19, p. 3836–3838, 2019.

ARTS, I. C.; HOLLMAN, P. C. Polyphenols and disease risk in epidemiologic studies. **The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition**, [S.L.], v. 81, n. 1, p. 317S-325S, 1 jan. 2005.

BANKOVA, V. et al. Antibacterial diterpenic acids from Brazilian propolis. Zeitschrift fur Naturforschung Section C - Journal of Biosciences, [S.L.], v. 51, n. 5–6, p. 7–10, 1996.

BARBOSA, S. C. M. et al. Amifostine reduces inflammation and protects against 5-fluorouracil-induced oral mucositis and hyposalivation. **BRAZILIAN JOURNAL OF MEDICAL AND BIOLOGICAL RESEARCH**, [S.L.], v. 52, n. 3, 2019a.

BARBOSA, S. C. M. et al. Amifostine reduces inflammation and protects against 5-fluorouracil-induced oral mucositis and hyposalivation. **Brazilian Journal of Medical and Biological Research**, [S.L.], v. 52, n. 3, p. 1–9, 2019b.

BENET, L. Z. et al. BDDCS, the Rule of 5 and Drugability. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, [S.L.], v. 101, n. 1, p. 89–98, 2016.

BLANEY, J. A very short history of structure-based design: How did we get here and where do we need to go? **Journal of Computer-Aided Molecular Design**, [S.L.], v. 26, n. 1, p. 13–14, 2012.

BOON, L. et al. Protease propeptide structures, mechanisms of activation, and functions. Critical Reviews in Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, [S.L.], v. 55, n. 2, p. 111–165, 2020.

BOSETTI, C. et al. Global trends in oral and pharyngeal cancer incidence and mortality. International Journal of Cancer, [S.L.], v. 147, n. 4, p. 1040–1049, 2020.

BRENNER, A. J. et al. Phase 2 trial of hypoxia activated evofosfamide (TH302) for treatment of recurrent bevacizumab-refractory glioblastoma. **Scientific Reports**, [S.L.], v. 11, n. 1, p. 1–6, 2021.

BRITO, A.; ZANG, Y. A Review of Lignan Metabolism, Milk Enterolactone Concentration, and Antioxidant Status of Dairy Cows Fed Flaxseed. **Molecules**, [S.L.], v. 24, n. 1, p. 41, 22 dez. 2018.

BROWN, T. J.; GUPTA, A. Management of Cancer Therapy – Associated Oral Mucositis. **JCO Oncology Practice**, [S.L.], v. 16, n. 3, p. 1–8, 2020.

CAESAR, L. K.; CECH, N. B. Synergy and antagonism in natural product extracts: when 1 + 1 does not equal 2. **Natural Product Reports**, [S.L.], v. 36, n. 6, p. 845–936, 2019.

CHEN, L. et al. Inflammatory responses and inflammation-associated diseases in organs. **Oncotarget**, [S.L.], v. 9, n. 6, p. 7204–7218, 23 jan. 2018.

CINAUSERO, M. et al. New Frontiers in the Pathobiology and Treatment of Cancer Regimen-Related Mucosal Injury. **Frontiers in Pharmacology**, [S.L.], v. 8, p. 1–16, 2017.

CZARNOTA, S. et al. Equatorial Active Site Compaction and Electrostatic Reorganization in Catechol - O - methyltransferase. **ACS Catalysis**, [S.L.], v. 9, p. 4394–4401, 2019.

DAI, Q. et al. Urinary Excretion of Phytoestrogens and Risk of Breast Cancer among Chinese Women in Shanghai. **Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention**, [S.L.], v. 11, n. 9, p. 815–821, 2002.

DAINA, A.; MICHIELIN, O.; ZOETE, V. SwissADME: a free web tool to evaluate

pharmacokinetics, drug-likeness and medicinal chemistry friendliness of small molecules. **Scientific Reports**, [S.L.], v. 7, p. 1–13, 2017.

DAINA, A.; ZOETE, V. A BOILED-Egg To Predict Gastrointestinal Absorption and Brain Penetration of Small Molecules. **ChemMedChem**, [S.L.], v. 11, p. 1117–1121, 2016.

DURING, A. et al. Among Plant Lignans, Pinoresinol Has the Strongest Antiinflammatory Properties in Human Intestinal Caco-2 Cells. **The Journal of Nutrition**, [S.L.], v. 142, n. 10, p. 1798–1805, 1 out. 2012.

ELAD, S. et al. MASCC/ISOO Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Management of Mucositis Secondary to Cancer Therapy. **Cancer**, [S.L.], v. 126, n. 19, p. 4423–4431, 2020.

FANG, Y. et al. Natural products as LSD1 inhibitors for cancer therapy. Acta Pharmaceutica Sinica B, [S.L.], p. 1–11, 2020.

FRANCHIN, M. et al. The use of Brazilian propolis for discovery and development of novel anti-inflammatory drugs. **European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry**, [S.L.], v. 153, p. 49–55, jun. 2018.

FREIRES, I. A. et al. Alternative Animal and Non-Animal Models for Drug Discovery and Development: Bonus or Burden? **Pharmaceutical Research**, [S.L.], v. 34, n. 4, p. 681–686, 17 abr. 2017.

HALLUND, J. et al. The effect of a lignan complex isolated from flaxseed on inflammation markers in healthy postmenopausal women. Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases, [S.L.], v. 18, n. 7, p. 497–502, set. 2008.

HAN, G. et al. Preventive and therapeutic effects of Smad7 on radiation- induced oral mucositis. **NATURE MEDICINE**, [S.L.], v. 19, n. 4, p. 421–428, 2013.

HARRIS, H. E.; ANDERSSON, U.; PISETSKY, D. S. HMGB1: A multifunctional alarmin driving autoimmune and inflammatory disease. **Nature Reviews Rheumatology**, [S.L.], v. 8, p. 195–202, 2012.

HEINONEN, S. et al. In Vitro Metabolism of Plant Lignans: New Precursors of Mammalian Lignans Enterolactone and Enterodiol. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, [S.L.], v. 49, n. 7, p. 3178–3186, jul. 2001.

HEMALSWARYA, S.; DOBLE, M. Potential synergism of natural products in the treatment of cancer. **Phytotherapy Research**, [S.L.], v. 20, n. 4, p. 239–249, 2006.

IM, K. et al. Regulation of HMGB1 release protects chemoradiotherapy-associated mucositis. **Mucosal Immunology**, [S.L.], v. 12, n. 5, p. 1070–1081, 15 set. 2019.

INCA. Estimativa 2020: incidência de Câncer no Brasil. 2019. ed. Rio de Janeiro: INCA, 2020.

IQBAL, M. et al. Phytochemicals as a potential source for TNF-alpha inhibitors. **Phytochemistry Reviews**, [S.L.], v. 12, p. 65–93, 2013.

JENSEN, S. B.; PETERSON, D. E. Oral mucosal injury caused by cancer therapies : current management and new frontiers in research. **Oral Pathology & Medicine**, [S.L.], v. 43, p. 81–90, 2014.

KEELING, C. I. et al. New components of the honey bee (Apis mellifera L.) queen retinue pheromone. **Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences**, [S.L.], v. 100, n. 8, p. 4486–4491, 15 abr. 2003.

KI, Y. et al. C-Reactive Protein Levels and Radiation-Induced Mucositis in Patients With Headand-Neck Cancer. **International Journal of Radiation Oncology Biology Physics**, [S.L.], v. 75, n. 2, p. 393–398, 2009.

KIM, K. et al. Mitogenic Influence of Human R-Spondin1 on the Intestinal Epithelium. Science, [S.L.], v. 309, n. 19, p. 1256–1260, 2005.

KUO, C.-C. et al. Meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials of the efficacy of propolis mouthwash in cancer therapy-induced oral mucositis. **Supportive Care in Cancer**, [S.L.], v. 26, n. 12, p. 4001–4009, dez. 2018.

LALLA, R. V et al. Role of the cyclooxygenase pathway in chemotherapy-induced oral mucositis: a pilot study. **Support Care Cancer**, [S.L.], v. 18, p. 95–103, 2010.

LALLA, R. V.; SONIS, S. T.; PETERSON, D. E. Management of Oral Mucositis in Patients Who Have Cancer. **The Dental Clinics of North America**, [S.L.], v. 52, p. 61–77, 2008.

LEUNG, D.; ABBENANTE, G.; FAIRLIE, D. P. Protease Inhibitors : Current Status and Future Prospects. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry, [S.L.], v. 43, n. 3, p. 305–341, 2000.

LIPINSKI, C. A. et al. Experimental and computational approaches to estimate solubility and permeability in drug discovery and development settings. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, [S.L.], v. 46, n. 1–3, p. 3–26, 2001.

MILDER, I. E. J. et al. Lignan contents of Dutch plant foods: a database including lariciresinol, pinoresinol, secoisolariciresinol and matairesinol. **British Journal of Nutrition**, [S.L.], v. 93, n. 3, p. 393–402, 2005.

MOHER, D. et al. Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses : The PRISMA Statement. **Plos Medicine**, [S.L.], v. 6, n. 7, p. 6, 2009.

MORGAN, P.; MANGAL, M.; LIN, C.-W. In silico Study of 1,687 FDA Approved Drugs and 612 Natural Products Reveals Benzydamine's Potential as a Direct Inhibitor of TNF-a. **International Research Journal of Pharmacy and Medical Sciences**, [S.L.], v. 2, n. 1, p. 13–18, 2018.

MORPHY, R.; RANKOVIC, Z. Designed multiple ligands. An emerging drug discovery paradigm. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry, [S.L.], v. 48, n. 21, p. 6523–6543, 2005.

MORRIS, G. M. et al. AutoDock4 and AutoDockTools4 : Automated docking with selective receptor flexibility. **Journal of Computational Chemistry**, [S.L.], v. 30, n. 16, p. 2785–2791, 2009.

MORRIS, G. M.; HUEY, R.; OLSON, A. J. Using AutoDock for Ligand-Receptor Docking. Current Protocols in Bioinformatics, [S.L.], v. 24, n. 1, p. 8.14.1-8.14.40, 2008.

MÜNSTEDT, K.; MÄNNLE, H. Using Bee Products for the Prevention and Treatment of Oral Mucositis Induced by Cancer Treatment. **Molecules**, [S.L.], v. 24, n. 17, p. 3023, 21 ago. 2019.

NANI, B. D. et al. Anti-inflammatory and anti- Candida Effects of Brazilian Organic Propolis, a Promising Source of Bioactive Molecules and Functional Food. **Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry**, [S.L.], v. 68, n. 10, p. 2861–2871, 23 ago. 2020.

NICOLATOU-GALITIS, O. et al. The role of benzydamine in prevention and treatment of chemoradiotherapy-induced mucositis. **Supportive Care in Cancer**, [S.L.], p. 1–9, 1 mar. 2021.

NORMANDO, A. G. C. et al. Biomarkers in the assessment of oral mucositis in head and neck

cancer patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. **Supportive Care in Cancer**, [S.L.], v. 25, n. 9, p. 2969–2988, 2017.

PAN, A. et al. Effects of a flaxseed-derived lignan supplement on C-reactive protein, IL-6 and retinol-binding protein 4 in type 2 diabetic patients. **British Journal of Nutrition**, [S.L.], v. 101, n. 8, p. 1145–1149, 8 set. 2008.

PIREDDA, M. et al. Propolis in the prevention of oral mucositis in breast cancer patients receiving adjuvant chemotherapy: A pilot randomised controlled trial. **European journal of cancer care**, [S.L.], v. 26, n. 6, p. 10.1111/ecc.12757, nov. 2017.

PRZYBYŁEK, I. Antibacterial Properties of Propolis. **Molecules**, [S.L.], v. 24, n. 11, p. 1–17, 2019.

PULITO, C. et al. Oral mucositis: the hidden side of cancer therapy. **Journal of Experimental & Clinical Cancer Research**, [S.L.], v. 39, n. 210, p. 1–15, 7 dez. 2020.

RAMACHANDRAN, B.; KESAVAN, S.; RAJKUMAR, T. Molecular modeling and docking of small molecule inhibitors against NEK2. **Bioinformation**, [S.L.], v. 12, n. 2, p. 62–68, 2016.

RILEY, P. et al. Interventions for preventing oral mucositis in patients with cancer receiving treatment: cytokines and growth factors. **Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews**, [S.L.], n. 11, p. 1–197, 28 nov. 2017.

ROCHE, D. B.; BRACKENRIDGE, D. A.; MCGUFFIN, L. J. Proteins and Their Interacting Partners : An Introduction to Protein – Ligand Binding Site Prediction Methods. **International Journal of Molecular Sciences**, [S.L.], v. 16, n. 12, p. 29829–29842, 2015.

ROY, S. et al. Molecular Docking Studies on Isocytosine Analogues as Xanthine Oxidase Inhibitors. **Molecular Docking Studies on Drug Research**, [S.L.], v. 68, n. 7, p. 395–402, 2018.

SALEHI, M. et al. The effect of propolis tablet on oral mucositis caused by chemotherapy. **Gazi Medical Journal**, [S.L.], v. 29, n. 3, p. 196–201, 2018.

SCHRÖDINGER. Glide Quick Start Guide. Disponível em: https://www.schrodinger.com/sites/default/files/s3/mkt/Documentation/2021-1/docs/Documentation.htm#glide_quick_start/glide_quick_startTOC.htm. Acesso em: 6 ago. 2021. SCHRÖDINGER. LigPrep Quick Start Guide. Disponível em: https://www.schrodinger.com/sites/default/files/s3/mkt/Documentation/2021-1/docs/Documentation.htm#ligprep_quick_start/ligprep_quick_startTOC.htm%3FTocPath%3 DQuick%2520Start%2520Guides%7CLigPrep%2520Quick%2520Start%2520Guide%7C_____ 1. Acesso em: 6 ago. 2021

SFORCIN, J. M. Biological Properties and Therapeutic Applications of Propolis. **Phytotherapy Research**, [S.L.], v. 30, p. 894–905, 2016.

SIAM, M. K. S.; SARKER, A.; SAYEEM, M. M. S. In silico drug design and molecular docking studies targeting Akt1 (RAC-alpha serine/serine/threonine-protein kinase) proteins and investigation of CYP (cytochrome P450) inhibitors against MAOB (monoamine oxidase B) for OSCC (oral squamous cell) treatment. Journal of Biomolecular Structure and Dynamics, [S.L.], v. 0, n. 0, p. 1–13, 2020.

SILVA, D. R. et al. In silico approaches for screening molecular targets in Candida albicans: A proteomic insight into drug discovery and development. **European Journal of Pharmacology**, [S.L.], v. 842, p. 64–69, jan. 2019.

SOLEYMANI, S. et al. The what and who of dietary lignans in human health: Special focus on prooxidant and antioxidant effects. **Trends in Food Science and Technology**, [S.L.], v. 106, p. 382–390, 2020.

SONIS, S. et al. Gene expression changes in peripheral blood cells provide insight into te biological mechanisms associated with regimen-related toxicities in patients being treated for head and neck cancers. **Oral oncology**, [S.L.], v. 43, p. 289–300, 2007.

SONIS, S. New thoughts on the initiation of mucositis. **Oral Diseases**, [S.L.], v. 16, n. 7, p. 597–600, out. 2010.

SONIS, S. T. The pathobiology of mucositis. **Nature Reviews Cancer**, [S.L.], v. 4, n. 4, p. 277–284, abr. 2004.

SONIS, S. T.; VILLA, A. Phase II investigational oral drugs for the treatment of radio/chemotherapy induced oral mucositis. **Expert Opinion on Investigational Drugs**, [S.L.], v. 27, n. 2, p. 147–154, 2018.

SOUGIANNIS, A. T. et al. Understanding chemotherapy-induced intestinal mucositis and strategies to improve gut resilience. American Journal of Physiology - Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology, [S.L.], v. 320, n. 5, p. G712–G719, 2021.

SROUSSI, H. Y. et al. Common oral complications of head and neck cancer radiation therapy: mucositis, infections, saliva change, fibrosis, sensory dysfunctions, dental caries, periodontal disease, and osteoradionecrosis. **Cancer Medicine**, [S.L.], v. 6, n. 12, p. 2918–2931, 2017.

SUN, Y. N. et al. NF- κB Inhibitory Activities of Phenolic and Lignan Components from the Stems of Acanthopanax divaricatus var. albeofructus. **Natural Product Sciences**, [S.L.], v. 20, n. 4, p. 232–236, 2014.

TAO, X. et al. Recent developments in molecular docking technology applied in food science : a review. **International Journal of Food Science and Technology**, [S.L.], v. 55, p. 33–45, 2020.

THACH, D. Q.; MAIMONE, T. J. Making light work of lignan synthesis. **Nature Chemistry**, [S.L.], v. 13, n. 1, p. 5–9, 2021.

TIVERON, A. P. et al. Chemical Characterization and Antioxidant, Antimicrobial, and Anti-Inflammatory Activities of South Brazilian Organic Propolis. **PLOS ONE**, [S.L.], v. 11, n. 11, p. e0165588, 1 nov. 2016.

TIVERON, A. P. et al. Lignans as new chemical markers of a certified Brazilian organic propolis. Natural Product Research, [S.L.], v. 0, n. 0, p. 1–5, 2020.

TROTT, O.; OLSON, A. J. AutoDock Vina: improving the speed and accuracy of docking with a new scoring function, efficient optimization and multithreading. **Journal of Computational Chemistry**, [S.L.], v. 31, n. 2, p. 455–461, 2010.

VANHARANTA, M. et al. Risk of Cardiovascular Disease–Related and All-Cause Death According to Serum Concentrations of Enterolactone. **Archives of Internal Medicine**, [S.L.], v. 163, n. 9, p. 1099, 12 maio 2003.

VASCONCELOS, R. M. et al. Host-Microbiome Cross-talk in Oral Mucositis. Journal of Dental Research, [S.L.], v. 95, n. 7, p. 725–733, 6 jul. 2016.

VIANA, J. DE O. et al. Drug discovery and computational strategies in the multitarget drugs era. **Brazilian Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences**, [S.L.], v. 54, n. Special Issue, p. 1–25, 2018.

WANG, H.; YANG, H.; TRACEY, K. J. Extracellular role of HMGB1 in inflammation and

sepsis. Journal of Internal Medicine, [S.L.], v. 255, n. 3, p. 320–331, mar. 2004.

WANG, Y. et al. Coniferyl Aldehyde Inhibits the Inflammatory Effects of Leptomeningeal Cells by Suppressing the JAK2 Signaling. **BioMed Research International**, [S.L.], v. 2020, p. 1–12, 15 set. 2020.

XU, P. et al. Matairesinol Suppresses Neuroinflammation and Migration Associated with Src and ERK1/2-NF-κB Pathway in Activating BV2 Microglia. **Neurochemical Research**, [S.L.], v. 42, n. 10, p. 2850–2860, 2017.

YAROM, N. et al. Systematic review of natural and miscellaneous agents, for the management of oral mucositis in cancer patients and clinical practice guidelines — part 2: honey, herbal compounds, saliva stimulants, probiotics, and miscellaneous agents. **Supportive Care in Cancer**, [S.L.], v. 28, n. 5, p. 2457–2472, 2020.

ZHAO, F. et al. Activation of p38 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Drives Dendritic Cells to Become Tolerogenic in Ret Transgenic Mice Spontaneously Developing Melanoma. **CLINICAL CANCER RESEARCH**, [S.L.], v. 15, n. 13, p. 4382–4390, jul. 2009.

APÊNDICE A – Ligantes que interagiram ou não no mesmo sítio que a Benzidamina

Table 1S. Comparison of binding site between ligands and benzydamine.

TARGET	LIGAND	LINK*
	coniferyl alcohol(I)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1uufgv6wKy876Jx0gizXxrGbzX500wYME?usp=sharing
	coniferyl alcohol(R)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1k-1GB_V-SUMkOm_F9tJSDiE3IAESC1TW?usp=sharing
	coniferyl aldehyde(I)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1ONj39FLqBR14ShK14811r-F6frSttK5y?usp=sharing
	coniferyl aldehyde(R)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1uuabdDj84qnKgiQbh_TjBbvy8bwgrWg4?usp=sharing
CDD	(+)-lariciresinol	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1RoM-RzbWdtdxzgVMVnQBH9RU6D5HunXN?usp=sharing
CRP	(-)-secoisolariciresinol	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1yVqrQpXuNjKunKXYWuMxqiVIArPdY0oN?usp=sharing
	balajaponin D	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/13ag1IA1-5Py5LLT3XyTNMuQwMk33lSp8?usp=sharing
	(+)-pinoresinol	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1mFgBNGMFyQhgMkcEzZcv3sm9xi3PDeu_?usp=sharing
	(-)-matairesinol _(I)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/16rO7vHp5m8elVcoP86QP_c6usYa0XoEh?usp=sharing
	(-)-matairesinol _(R)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1T628cELU-i8isOCvZWiuqi3fQBWriZYk?usp=sharing
	coniferyl alcohol _(I)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/11Y_3zCVhSHuV1ZIjN3NPEs0h-5CtDLj4?usp=sharing
	coniferyl alcohol(R)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1nHV5Xn1sFbIBBBq5MF6vU-4731PNIKLf?usp=sharing
	coniferyl aldehyde(I)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1Dv-KHlNMjicQH1CpvSrJ-tS0ZCGnyPyc?usp=sharing
	coniferyl aldehyde(R)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/13grV77mB7DT5dJFyDGSsDIdkgUjBEGAc?usp=sharing
EGF	(+)-lariciresinol	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1rHSynFjDMq5BPx4FxN5mUbCSa8DZJZ76?usp=sharing
	(-)-secoisolariciresinol	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/15bQIG7qZUH3xh6QDiC3-u-yDktJAFtAP?usp=sharing
	balajaponin D	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1tivu_HwbhmJXozyMbEPI-ZGdJNjvNKm2?usp=sharing
	(+)-pinoresinol	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1vUVwf0h-rKKRws_FWL6RFci97khzsI15?usp=sharing
	(-)-matairesinol(I)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1wDkXz7p3cECKAYlrJgiN7u4Ltfak61dS?usp=sharing
	(-)-matairesinol _(R)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1W8AkwuSfGhd98ferRFL2i6E6mO_9nQ7E?usp=sharing
	coniferyl alcohol(I)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1U5HN3GWow23k8CyKg4Je5zpFR10ab6b2?usp=sharing
	coniferyl alcohol(R)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1DtxwP412n3vocyQtsMQ44ZH_W_Q1-6RS?usp=sharing
	coniferyl aldehyde(I)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/100AZnpwqFFshHLx-MN9sHG3pyEfoMltm?usp=sharing
	coniferyl aldehyde(R)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1XJjer6QlpG5f_AMpdMl3eMErb-hZ5boj?usp=sharing
IL-1β	(+)-lariciresinol	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1eNx3cHYfmDHWKBq3lLXVKvGz0bfQIuV2?usp=sharing
	(-)-secoisolariciresinol	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1ekiUiVDd4cN3gT3FB99HTq0WgbUVUR2o?usp=sharing
	balajaponin D	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1EW4j8VU_55UsoIRtfu7QDNabnGmt2JKi?usp=sharing
	(+)-pinoresinol	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1pWCCKksNFTsL7ekVIqvQrksJ9q2z_lGm?usp=sharing
	(-)-matairesinol _(I)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1d2h3BRTIysp1DfBsVgRmCrkc0Q0kIYgv?usp=sharing
	(-)-matairesinol _(R)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1im9NCx0K4YvJZCvpPQpnf7YxTrO7eNm3?usp=sharing
	coniferyl alcohol(I)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1GeJM-bPyZfwZ3yofRuyflH9VKxBTJo6r?usp=sharing
	coniferyl alcohol(R)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1yABZYQCObWZZtekHuHY6FejDCn6Gk4CO?usp=sharing the standard st
IL-6**	coniferyl aldehyde(I)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1uAzA44iys1_cd5V9CaXxkpS9BNFcpZF9?usp=sharing
	coniferyl aldehyde(R)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1OP_FUpzboGcsygMaBrYmUPEplVLpUuSo?usp=sharing
	(+)-lariciresinol	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1xDsvQx4AeoLUHcqA6LyzsbM0cyR56Xsh?usp=sharing

(-)-secoisolariciresinolhttps://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1mKYYCStrIe_RPk11IBAY05AT7BKwvww2?usp=sharingbalajaponin Dhttps://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1Gq4KZKezisWvm7GAW8eFT933Vn9lepGI?usp=sharing(+)-pinoresinolhttps://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1x7HF-VyMmxR8JYfOx1G7hEX_K9jvYh2o?usp=sharing(-)-matairesinol(1)https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1nCEKuxMRqTtYoN5VnMFx5lhEhX5Z8Tc6?usp=sharing(-)-matairesinol(R)https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1gGle7bK7Dq40lftZbPSOepOeX1PSu58W?usp=sharing

coniferyl alcohol_(I) coniferyl alcohol_(R) coniferyl aldehyde_(I) coniferyl aldehyde_(R) (+)-lariciresinol (-)-secoisolariciresinol balajaponin D (+)-pinoresinol (-)-matairesinol_(I)

coniferyl alcohol_(I) coniferyl alcohol_(R) coniferyl aldehyde_(I) coniferyl aldehyde_(R) (+)-lariciresinol (-)-secoisolariciresinol balajaponin D (+)-pinoresinol (-)-matairesinol_(R)

coniferyl alcohol_(I)
coniferyl alcohol_(R)
coniferyl aldehyde_(I)
coniferyl aldehyde_(R)
(+)-lariciresinol
(-)-secoisolariciresinol
balajaponin D
(+)-pinoresinol
(-)-matairesinol_(I)
(-)-matairesinol_(R)

coniferyl alcohol_(I) coniferyl alcohol_(R) coniferyl aldehyde_(I) coniferyl aldehyde_(R) (+)-lariciresinol (-)-secoisolariciresinol https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1YuMwYUfYQDt0xOz-0Nxt_pYVuTbQQZpc?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1TKu6qbtegCzFk1AlMj3Zkn9XhyVH-bhk?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/17_JZArXmnJxF5VMp7sacYjdtcShtDaOs?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1KKimQuXNJN7OtUVPZXtH-QtVBZqiHu0Z?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1Y6Lq3IwjdX2-UMEImA92mCHjXgSS65bM?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1isq5SWVaAIxWUNgVlvImO3TPnnVIE_xD?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1IUu58EcV6EhjMVN2mYrbrJmg3v2CQOD6?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1TYcJRuHnzU5kbc2dKGyUUPc8sAIGZ74s?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1JT2r9QeZa8TkfFn-XnPoAGeLZaT_YjBR?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1R0i3dTQ2P63gQycK9kqCETO3xpWYYzbB?usp=sharing

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1fbYRXb87bj4fNHJ-uS51Jz2UYHEoQDuQ?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1iflXKKXNHhruzDA7P-u_ii3FSS2-8rX1?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/14zHU25A9ivJei_yoB5ASv-DfoJCoPb_i?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1Zwmnh7Iqioc9k9rMTV3nVHW34DohEMeC?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1V19KV7HhEb6dM3WQSFB-py0YSYC8TF0z?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/11xcEXpkEQvNy5fGFs_QqNbuBxtViBJxM?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1xHoHL20QK_-udOI1fOx3Xo6KGDNxlpAh?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/10bIZ8_NIX6coNB2fWfB5Ms256kQDLaUR?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1NeuO3Hd6faGRZUSt8wmF5iHDcDijAbw5?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/125mSu2HulpOJgm7oF0WB4yfmkBE5C-GS?usp=sharing

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1T3cmWADu5ZIuaGkwDNHZrtQlhT5EOG-b?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/11THqCMvRMTHmZop_f3ecDONXklteEKBc?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/15snolrsRrAlNnvFbPfvPezhtUE6nU16O?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1X6dc05i8ZWszDIZFdKI4DsI3S-aTm2ux?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1xKm_eNGFAMxdzzBz3qJ9JgNEUdcYhmgZ?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/13E1umjOHI79NBonHOFhPMw1wJPFCjwCS?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1V7mMgOXA_iThxW2tLCXDqBj63Fkl6EQS?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1Pg7YRopqv_Be8z0PRi6ymQr3vUCjnVCj?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1DMulsZdiDP1biYS-sS9LH-Yajt3gSdpP?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1tyXnjW2ILJfrnisH6xbcpnM31Y1oIMcp?usp=sharing

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1zPyWdJbbrZV-pYo6vAERPiQgSbPeWuuJ?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1MEBC3FukMuEl41Qd1_DS02Cu16QgmNaG?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1weuODuaoGzT2lmqsyS5cxQr0PS5xlthG?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1HVpc7hUHcm4tuEjtCAV7UpgLZK6GVzF5?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1FfdP7AjVObAeVeWfHPGOnqADpnkpUTv1?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1KoYYho2xBrLgKKhbMTDDYcAoLNKCEUrt?usp=sharing

NF-ĸB

TNF-a

balajaponin D	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1SjTCWxnKVC7u20sed6QwrHrVhy-tPIPP?usp=sharing
(+)-pinoresinol	$https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1daF5qAnfGtqz5VlmN0BRldDLE_Jl8zJM?usp=sharing$
(-)-matairesinol _(I)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1ZeYkqsVQ6Y0oiU9sVmcaBhszTIIVFX8p?usp=sharing
(-)-matairesinol _(R)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1nKsdsQboq443q4sI_po6QJSIqTixwqh9?usp=sharing

(I): ideal form; (R): representative form

* The link leads to a folder containing two files: the structure of each inflammatory target with benzydamine and the evaluated ligand, and a video showing the target with benzydamine, then the ligand to be evaluated is added.

** The Maestro software mistakenly detected some IL-6 residues as ligands therefore this classification should be ignored.

APÊNDICE B – Ligantes que interagiram na região da balajaponina D (Estratégia II)

Table 2S. Comparison of binding site between ligands and balajaponin D.

TARGET	LIGAND	LINK*
	coniferyl alcohol(I)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1P-jnzf70NnFpHozI7jN8lkhUShQ0XSIn?usp=sharing
	$coniferyl \ alcohol_{(R)}$	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1Fea5DybgKcwP1IsSGSEWv_fJamq_g-nL?usp=sharing
	coniferyl aldehyde(I)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1byblVE3S1a741tNhKEqMmiOWpQxdih1q?usp=sharing
	coniferyl aldehyde(R)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1FffCZWKWpN-TX0myPGI2JDgKNl0sJYoB?usp=sharing
CRP	(+)-lariciresinol	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1G6QuMBhCq2B6bJDd0vesbA34I8X8H0oS?usp=sharing
	(-)-secoisolariciresinol	$https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1HylFkwvyPzKGM4VWpRAowVceWZ0LVwI_?usp=sharingwareset and the set of t$
	(+)-pinoresinol	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1yvhXhrSPbeWGc6zX5HkjDw1mLcBlC5dS?usp=sharing
	(-)-matairesinol _(I)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1RXBJKTrAyrYIh90_Ln1tjOghq_5GbBNp?usp=sharing
	(-)-matairesinol _(R)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1ECR-skDJ-tKsYEagGlI9-D7d6iLeHpto?usp=sharing
	coniferyl alcohol(I)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1DRmeLIE1HcYez5Bl1BYY0Q7Tl5MFQCRZ?usp=sharing
	coniferyl alcohol(R)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1diHZYxWGAOASD-mKYTaV924LF_wX4Pnv?usp=sharing
	coniferyl aldehyde(I)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1gJiC-ECAqvo2oRpumyxqCf7tHn2EZuSx?usp=sharing
	coniferyl aldehyde(R)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1Q6z3pFdEeACVttwa9pGrHgcBphudWUXA?usp=sharing
EGF	(+)-lariciresinol	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1fQNKfp5bZDTEqBfX1ZcoTr9eI9ynD4BK?usp=sharing
	(-)-secoisolariciresinol	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/10gGqe185uEYh4mdD0tJ-Kr4T8xMNYrh0?usp=sharing
	(+)-pinoresinol	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1pmueFfcTQZxVMH4yyhxYVvsUMtjy7N0Q?usp=sharing
	(-)-matairesinol _(I)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1QVokI0PkORg27pbUJJWO_NTlFzaEK47f?usp=sharing
	(-)-matairesinol _(R)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1rDJDhqEzI47c_oVSntQRvLexKaYREQUX?usp=sharing
	coniferyl alcohol(I)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1RAmqasDVTB0IgSDvLCt3w3gd1QXcKUDp?usp=sharing
	coniferyl alcohol(R)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/16E3ZnLsNtYUu0j90JsSWVtSHqkiKhmNp?usp=sharing
	coniferyl aldehyde(I)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/14mTehFiB9Vn2fABNHurY9_loVhAU9v19?usp=sharing
TT 10	coniferyl aldehyde(R)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1RDOzgQjIjCgrEnjSeWGT-s6-Alln4z9L?usp=sharing
IL-IP	(+)-lariciresinol	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1wLZRc4PY-4csNLajv787P5OcUscEgb7f?usp=sharing
	(-)-secoisolariciresinol	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1tu64loTvOJrmESyEYd1MpAjHG5s6vSAd?usp=sharing
	(+)-pinoresinol	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1CY1eYHRkiCx0kjK364zKQyBlsy-MZgzf?usp=sharing
	(-)-matairesinol _(I)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1VHuM_LFS3-QUfDjWC2pNZT8i-1DH8jtl?usp=sharing
	(-)-matairesinol _(R)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1FNMWOPJd1PWsBRUkImJurUCdGwA9QOqh?usp=sharing
	coniferyl alcohol _(I)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1zCVu9yPg8QAxMKEWTlB537EbZJ2I3PhU?usp=sharing
	coniferyl alcohol(R)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1pgI7FNmK-v5Sb-fkmnOqeJViWyPa_3a5?usp=sharing
пс	coniferyl aldehyde(I)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/19v5lvuJBPzBncQVucVZAy7fcP179zMe3?usp=sharing
IL-6	coniferyl aldehyde(R)	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1tYPeHI43YBjzH3YfRmPB78dcUPWkAz4e?usp=sharing
	(+)-lariciresinol	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1dVm7cAqVJFFt8ZiJXrt1Fq3VqGSA7Gl0?usp=sharing

(-)-secoisolariciresinol

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/16aWucU4bMjhdRdeMfnucv2hONHaamHj7?usp=sharing

(+)-pinoresinol(-)-matairesinol_(I)(-)-matairesinol_(R)

coniferyl alcohol(I)

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1LD8onNuWXh4ja6IjPC3_AbW8hhrcw-jw?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1JJYcikxv66W6Xt1gvreAFEEGk4OWWJUh?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1TlZLKpHzMrsVQb-taNf0oOZuNDrNgIge?usp=sharing

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1toyRuUViHOgjD0dRC-p3n-w1yoojMIIC?usp=sharing

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1am2I9dipRjjiHYwbVTtFhV YJVfC dzl?usp=sharing

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1i-nY7OZoYJwsZVRNrLmB672GNXspLfSc?usp=sharing

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1mq Dv03ScNOALUEpusFYWVlFb8dd PZa?usp=sharing

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1Z--hqcaA2lota2JMpTe_QVAnnO28UFL1?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1fqimaCLYUtFWBak72YAarTsMZVbN9Bl-?usp=sharing

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1AW2-81Q5agj-IJpN0Zu6nYYX-aGDjvPD?usp=sharing

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1MkaR7dOgxQfK kqoducrrq0sZMrHaUsb?usp=sharing

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1tnoNlHIAN-VwccCD8FVUKOegmP17OHRM?usp=sharing

coniferyl alcohol_(R) coniferyl aldehyde_(I) coniferyl aldehyde_(R) (+)-lariciresinol (-)-secoisolariciresinol (+)-pinoresinol (-)-matairesinol_(I) (-)-matairesinol_(R)

coniferyl alcohol_(I) coniferyl alcohol_(R) coniferyl aldehyde_(I) coniferyl aldehyde_(R) (+)-lariciresinol (-)-secoisolariciresinol (+)-pinoresinol (-)-matairesinol_(I)

coniferyl alcohol_(I) coniferyl alcohol_(R) coniferyl aldehyde_(I) coniferyl aldehyde_(R) (+)-lariciresinol (-)-secoisolariciresinol (+)-pinoresinol (-)-matairesinol_(I)

coniferyl alcohol_(I)
coniferyl alcohol_(R)
coniferyl aldehyde_(I)
coniferyl aldehyde_(R)
(+)-lariciresinol
(-)-secoisolariciresinol
(+)-pinoresinol
(-)-matairesinol_(I)
(-)-matairesinol_(R)

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1VhLL-GFxTybfk8mfeaUZd5Zi4bFcbEet?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1q9f4eH8tUx9WIBSBjIA6Q91zio2NMSnC?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1jYY_ZLnZ37H7HK5FU-kLrVhMvUs5APo3?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1wQhklWvJBvHntVkdF-asXB9VAOO642BQ?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1fh23LPfDI0oXfflqlQZcqAAIxgfio1hn?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/16bpodr93yq1dvsQmc-hlwz9ns9kkw_wT?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/19FrhHE_oXdRmkISzT4thI5tNJkfC3ltX?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1zYzjok5LHUutzFEU3VJgLoy7D-ADb1b6?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1Xpc2zXV7i1GQaOon4qHAanCFgwF_b4mc?usp=sharing

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/15UGRl8hh48C3HrYOOnEUNRAy71xAIouc?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/185SwYx3e7JipF43PgI0Y0OX0FUd9VmNC?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1PHh6w4IcOSBVxx28OgPlrjwpvKSCb9Lq?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1rKSU4d7D2QFdjegkJIfMEq96BwVjkRHf?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1YzylDsWvEDF0RiRhpGTFHrLCPWy6HKbb?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1828w5nzgTRAhPQRJX22GQtZy1x2mgAjw?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1rNwqOg5kWHbckUQnFUp4K8bOjVvbGZ2l?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1u54M2hYhQJhQBvhSjT0BMbs7iRDmBWXL?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1vEm-aC2wlDsiEu447VBGgJTXwTs8jqux?usp=sharing

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1ZAqdnS-SC2-RxTjmfjVqgCFhTqweM6Qz?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1C2sfN0aTTTKJVx1E8iOmmXNRx16Ir0FO?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1Ehcz0G0yKgrPs9OzeMhfBvH82FZtXm-E?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1DZvT6yz9kivBdh0Oukg1y4lzlgHUmxP3?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1WRUhRZ06KScuzMKW9-ptkCusipPX4ng7?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1hMWkYpUIR_AYY3RP15iYqgDlx8p3zT0f?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1F7svGRBDf8QJELn87BkbGaLM1d4fmJ75?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1F7svGRBDf8QJELn87BkbGaLM1d4fmJ75?usp=sharing

(I): ideal form; (R): representative form

P53

PUMA

TNF-α

* The link leads to a folder containing two files: the structure of each inflammatory target with a fixed balajaponin D and the evaluated ligand; and a video showing the target with a balajaponin D, in dark green color, then the ligand to be evaluated is added.

APÊNDICE C – RESÍDUOS DOS ALVOS NO COMPLEXO 'ALVO INFLAMATÓRIO + balajaponina D' EM QUE OCORRERAM AS INTERAÇÕES COM OS SEIS LIGANTES

Table 3S. Residues in the 'inflammatory target + balajaponin D' complex where interactions occurred.

TARGET	LIGAND	RESIDUES	LINK*
	coniferyl alcohol(I)	ARG 188; ARG 188; ASN 160; ASN 186; GLY 178; PRO 182; PRO 182; SER	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1YDbMR5FNVJNpxRR9QLCl3vLyG0zvduOb?usp=sharing
		181	
	coniferyl alcohol(R)	ARG 188; ARG 188; ASN 160; ASN 186; GLY 178; PRO 182; PRO 182; SER	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/19LzaNHsT7PtdByM6xg_uBR2BhfDm2215?usp=sharing
		181	
	coniferyl aldehyde(I)	No residues	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1UM09kG25zct2VUgbVY4OJtzKu68h0uVW?usp=sharing
	coniferyl aldehyde(R)	GLY 178; ILE 174; PHE 180; TRP 162	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1VyMq38NQMCLM6_hW6C5K5bS3ZVnw3Cr?usp=sharing
	(+)-lariciresinol	ARG 188; ARG 188; ASN 156; ASN 160; ASN 186; ASN 186; GLN 203; GLY	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1Fuz5OAa_NqaOI64rqJy6dOdy2fRDkkSg?usp=sharing
CRP		177; HIE 38; HIE 38; HIE 38; ILE 174; ILE 174; PHE 180; PRO 182; PRO 206;	
eiu		SER 181	
	(-)-matairesinol _(I)	ARG 188; ASN 158; HIE 38; HIS 95; PHE 180; PHE 180; TYR 175	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1SHLfZ3htXlEPEIZ_YJwrmSQ6RFWXsANZ?usp=sharing
	(-)-matairesinol _(R)	ARG 188; ASN 158; HIE 38; HIS 95; PHE 180; PHE 180; TYR 175	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1idEFYWVtBeJwb182B5jgkzosb3bIKghy?usp=sharing
	(+)-pinoresinol	ARG 188; ASN 158; GLY 177; GLY 177; HIE 38; HIE 38; ILE 174; ILE 174;	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1PJemj8rHsI9MBLSXE9EzrqXptG5KssFb?usp=sharing
		PRO 206	
		TYR 175	
	(-)-secoisolariciresinol	ARG 188; ARG 188; GLN 203; GLY 177; GLY 178; GLY 177; HIE 38; HIE 38;	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1z43zsqx9DrbSghG7pI74kFWoUoP7rSz4?usp=sharing
		ILE 174; PRO 206; TRP 162; TYR 175	
ECE	coniferyl alcohol(I)	ASP 11; ASP 11; CYX 6; CYX 14; CYX 14; CYX 20; GLU 5; GLU 5; GLY 12;	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1SfWTIezBZ26fQRTCF0IqghN7fMnbq_6l?usp=sharing

EGF

GLY 12; GLY 18; HIE 10; VAL 19

coniferyl alcohol(R)	ASP 11; ASP 11; CYX 6; CYX 14; CYX 14; CYX 20; CYX 20; GLU 5; GLU	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1JERDM5YxqFkpUnfRyevZZ1xAUoqxuGd7?usp=sharing
	5; GLY 12; GLY 12; GLY; 18; VAL 19	
coniferyl aldehyde(I)	No residues	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/151_ib6CVPqEiv03KtF1nthYcZ-wMj_jb?usp=sharing
coniferyl aldehyde(R)	ASP 11; ASP 11; CYX 14; CYX 14; CYX 20; CYX 20; GLY 12	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1MTxOBWaQsduMG2i43k5sILdPwAVg052r?usp=sharing
(+)-lariciresinol	ASP 17; CYX 6; CYX 6; CYX 14; CYX 14; GLU 5; GLU 5; GLY 12; HIS 16	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/18pNFvqXabM3T62YrZ71qx3VKnphV_De4?usp=sharing
(-)-matairesinol _(I)	ASP 17; ASP 17; CYX 6	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1N0SxsGbLyA3mzCYqgnFH1uLXXhSMOq9z?usp=sharing
(-)-matairesinol _(R)	ASP 17; ASP 17; CYX 6	$https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1U4 idAfknOk7fWADyyybyfTqwKGr1UU_M?usp=sharingwardwardwardwardwardwardwardwardwardward$
(+)-pinoresinol	ASP 11; ASP 11; ASP 17; ASP 17; ASP 17; CYX 6; CYX 14; GLU 5; GLY 12;	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1gdNsCS7sQwpR-QILq4QyLolNz_z3YbVG?usp=sharing
	GLY 18	
(-)-secoisolariciresinol	ASP 11; ASP 17; ASP 17; CYX 6; GLU 5; GLU 5; GLU 5; GLY 12; GLY 18;	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1zJsbvuVL3lqOfZ5GR4DjlfpNpHNy1qkK?usp=sharing
	VAL 19	
coniferyl alcohol(I)	GLN 81; GLU 25; GLU 25; LEU 26; LEU 80; LEU 80; LEU 82; LEU 134; PHE	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1cvyAOx-h2lNqzzMYrttqiGTC1vl0mFrS?usp=sharing
	133; TYR 24; VAL 132	
coniferyl alcohol(R)	GLN 81; GLU 25; GLU 25; LEU 26; LEU 80; LEU 80; LEU 82; LEU 134; PHE	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1Shn2uQPJuvyzXosvfwv63xhoSahN3rkL?usp=sharing
	133; TYR 24; VAL 132	
coniferyl aldehyde(I)	No residues	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1qp8dwUr6ExBvhEgRnc-A6wpX9E_42m0E?usp=sharing
coniferyl aldehyde(R)	GLN 81; GLU 25; GLU 25; LEU 80; PRO 131; VAL 132	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1UnD72L-tD-jdSWh3iwlKTIv72YAEu9tP?usp=sharing
(+)-lariciresinol	GLN 81; LEU 26; LEU 80; LEU 80; LEU 82; LYS 77; PHE 133; TYR 24; VAL	$https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/18A_W0yqGeLfp7-Tjm0IzCOYRwWl_DoWE?usp=sharing$
	132	
(-)-matairesinol _(I)	GLN 81; LEU 26; LEU 82; LEU 82; LEU 134; LYS 77; TYR 24; VAL 132	$https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1WSgynGllS0PtJY6OFa73rlX_XPZULn1P?usp=sharing the standard st$
(-)-matairesinol _(R)	GLN 81; LEU 26; LEU 80; LEU 82; LEU 82; LEU 134; LYS 77; TYR 24; VAL	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1mSJYgT4VbzJ6TiVn4NMzNsoH17jfiXLd?usp=sharing the start of the start
	132	
(+)-pinoresinol	GLU 5; LEU 80; LEU 134; LYS 77; LYS 77; LYS 77; PHE 133; PHE 133; PHE	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1y2UoJqkU7GtPJLpT4KarZq5dfXtXrtrs?usp=sharing
	133; THR 79; TRP 120; TYR 24; VAL 132	
(-)-secoisolariciresinol	ASP 142; GLY 136; LEU 80; LEU 134; LYS 77; PHE 133; PHE 133	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1111OMW_9JoT5kacolV8a2pvf7J3yufDt?usp=sharing

IL-1β

coniferyl alcohol(I)	ARG 179; ARG 179; ARG 179; ARG 179; GLN 75; GLN 183; PHE 74; PHE	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1qMZaUo1VEo1M56K0m_6zdRgdd0rJgBxr?usp=sharing
	74; PHE 74; PHE 74; SER 176; SER 176	
coniferyl alcohol(R)	ARG 179; ARG 179; ARG 179; GLN 75; GLN 183; PHE 74; PHE 74; PHE 74;	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1FF3y9oBHmf1NE9uh5gkg64kHfuRk8hjm?usp=sharing
	PHE 74; SER 176; SER 176	
coniferyl aldehyde(I)	No residues	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1OHxOJ367Wekf_qvZBsJYM9bm9UtpFYR3?usp=sharing
coniferyl aldehyde(R)	GLN 75; GLN 183; GLN 183; PHE 74	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1AnAE78-yHEy6OYjfQ-z52l9w_0_5YPot?usp=sharing
(+)-lariciresinol	ARG 179; ARG 179; GLN 75; GLN 175; GLN 183; PHE 74; SER 176	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1GYsfDccfIfu9EwuR6x5zLLwnxgufw76I?usp=sharing
(-)-matairesinol _(I)	GLN 75; GLN 183; LYS 66; PHE 74; PHE 74; PHE 74; SER 176	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1HTBm-G11BjIRO3oGGRA99_RqO6TR96A3?usp=sharing
(-)-matairesinol _(R)	GLN 75; GLN 183; LYS 66; LYS 66; PHE 74; PHE 74; PHE 74; SER 176	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1GFdYHlAhrklg71d870VlYLxSiBD1URxC?usp=sharing
(+)-pinoresinol	ARG 179; ARG 179; ARG 179; GLN 75; GLN 175; GLN 183; PHE 74; PHE	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1Qp6gbpt8tiF8YYWMxFcQx8WK01d5cQge?usp=sharingwidth=0.00000000000000000000000000000000000
	74; PHE 74; SER 176	
(-)-secoisolariciresinol	ARG 179; ARG 182; CYX 73; GLN 75; GLN 75; GLN 183; GLN 183; PHE 74;	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/116WU_tXjQFmsVp_dy3t2FP4-gF8vp8je?usp=sharing
	PHE 74; PHE 74; PHE 74; SER 176	
coniferyl alcohol(I)	ARG 52; ARG 52; ARG 52; ARG 54; ARG 54; GLY 64; HIS 62; LYZ 75; LYS	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1v31yfnG9Ovd2Es28R-Sjvz5gE8_YCSem?usp=sharing
	75; PHE 51; PHE 51	
coniferyl alcohol(R)	ARG 52; ARG 52; ARG 52; ARG 54; ARG 54; GLY 64; HIS 62; LYS 75; LYS	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/18FST1HQSH9i5PdeTrdzTGX3gZYd8K6YJ?usp=sharing
	75; PHE 51; PHE 51	
coniferyl aldehyde(I)	No residues	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/18FST1HQSH9i5PdeTrdzTGX3gZYd8K6YJ?usp=sharing
coniferyl aldehyde(R)	ARG 54; ARG 54; ARG 54; HIS 62; HIS 62; SER 220	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1YtxSRP6Z3nataaHJfcjORQ7tT6eHwBfj?usp=sharing
(+)-lariciresinol	ARG 49; ARG 49; ARG 49; ASP 316; ASP 316; ASP 319; LEU 228; VAL 317	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1LyDw1Us1zdudc3qmlF8OUe-YhgqwGuXD?usp=sharing
(-)-matairesinol _(I)	ARG 52; ARG 54; GLY 50; HIS 62; PHE 51; PRO 66	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1EMv-DUQTjXb5XKFVTUHfbqCF2TKJ9aHP?usp=sharing
(-)-matairesinol _(R)	ARG 52; ARG 54; GLU 71; GLU 71; GLY 50; HIS 62; LYS 47; PHE 51; PRO	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1mzjbfcPwulzyedv2qW7H7IhCsjy0zb9I?usp=sharing
	66	
(+)-pinoresinol	ARG 49; ARG 49; ARG 49; ASP 316; ASP 316; ASP 319; ASP 319; ASP 319;	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1qadPnW_dViXRwOUrz2wy5sLToREH1grG?usp=sharing
	LEU 228; VAL 317; VAL 317	
(-)-secoisolariciresinol	ARG 52; ARG 52; ARG 52; ARG 52; ARG 54; ARG 54; ASN 227; GLY 50;	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1q6n_Cz2qx7ZcMjzAlRsXvI5Gg1H2XG4I?usp=sharing
	GLY 64; HIS 62; LYS 75; LYS 75; LYS 75; LYS 75; SER 220; SER 220	

NF-κB

62

coniferyl alcohol(I)	ARG 158; ARG 158; ARG 158; GLY 262; ILE 254; ILE 254; ILE 254; MET	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1UpnlcRBYzr2bealqqCH1CsrZMW8gPleq?usp=sharing
	160; PRO 98; SER 99; THR 256; THR 256	
coniferyl alcohol(R)	ARG 158; ARG 158; ARG 158; GLY 262; ILE 254; ILE 254; ILE 254; MET	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/118SiXO8BCyfEVyFIDmYeBFhaAqy1FxMm?usp=sharing
	160; PRO 98; SER 99; THR 256; THR 256	
coniferyl aldehyde(I)	No residues	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/15nle9r0vtqJr4QCE0wa0AMQS3RBftWbm?usp=sharing
coniferyl aldehyde(R)	ARG 158; ARG 158; ILE 254; MET 160; MET 160; PRO 98; THR 256; THR	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1TX-vVKgHUhqqE0uvOv111zO2uia1A6Mi?usp=sharing
	256; THR 256	
(+)-lariciresinol	ARG 156; ARG 158; ARG 158; ARG 158; ARG 158; GLU 258; GLU 258; GLY	$https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1BQNjCXPI3Vfhx_MAvfmNVKJVunCtn2-h?usp=sharing$
	262; LEU 206; MET 160; MET 160; PRO 98; SER 99; THR 256; THR 256	
(-)-matairesinol _(I)	ASP 208; GLY 262; PRO 98; SER 99; THR 256	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1gESkAMbM5TUBeCdk-U87KCo80mw2YmPL?usp=sharing
(-)-matairesinol _(R)	ASP 208; GLY 262; PRO 98; SER 99; THR 256	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1Gy9Y5pN4nXegYBmTSMzHFKA3axhm37T0?usp=sharing the standard st
(+)-pinoresinol	ARG 156; ARG 158; ARG 158; ARG 158; ARG 158; GLU 258; GLY 262; GLY	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1D95ezC6pdqNu0u7ORNzCglmKPqD3p0fp?usp=sharing
	262; LEU 206; MET 160; SER 99	
(-)-secoisolariciresinol	ARG 158; ASP 208; GLY 262; LEU 264; MET 160; PRO 98; SER 99; THR 211;	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1KNItGYxkZFyVAp8sEV9NOGS2kTI1kXIK?usp=sharing
	THR 211; THR 256	

coniferyl alcohol(I)	ALA 139; ARG 135; ARG 142; ARG 142; ARG 143; GLU 136
$coniferyl \ alcohol_{(R)}$	ALA 139; ARG 135; ARG 142; ARG 142; ARG 143; GLU 136
coniferyl aldehyde(I)	No residues
coniferyl aldehyde (R)	GLN 140; ILE 137
(+)-lariciresinol	ALA 134; GLU 130; GLU 130; GLU 130; GLU 131
(-)-matairesinol _(I)	GLU 131; GLU 131
(-)-matairesinol _(R)	GLU 131; GLU 131
(+)-pinoresinol	ALA 139; ARG 135; ARG 135; ARG 142; ARG 142; ARG 143; GLU 136
(-)-secoisolariciresinol	ARG 135; ARG 142; ARG 142; ARG 143; GLN 132; GLN 132; GLU 136; GLU

P53

PUMA

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1GlXgmyOtQDpHnRT239wco2NrI1tpxTPn?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1PtXHZ2jiSGPUDr8tMo7h12e30y7AUPbN?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1EhiH948eFKQnQyNvn8RYycnJYpPVImpZ?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1SfTumoi6A7BZsI1spotn1fvLzJH89gMJ?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1Cp6V58qbFGMbAs0H-5wC7j9lJQK_-xQF?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1c3MiGEKuZv1iVOVAOEn6eEUAVnAN5Aha?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1zBA8TvWC0ovAHwVrMeu0T-NTa6ErYTaX?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1t-VvjnuRIGB3CIFVP2oLAwmXvU2C-I55?usp=sharing https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1qRmfn-R5ak3E1VMhCup_fKAkrMl3Fv6k?usp=sharing 136

	coniferyl alcohol(I)	CYX 101; GLH 116; GLU 116; GLU 116; LYS 98; PRO 100	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1ym2gYdH_QGaQXGgYiXzdh0V67SbJLM7?usp=sharing
	$coniferyl \ alcohol_{(R)}$	CYX 101; GLH 116; GLU 116; GLU 116; LYS 98; PRO 100	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1hC13_SDfhYpcdYNGO-eGEojxPhD40Fau?usp=sharing
	coniferyl aldehyde(I)	No residues	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/14Je_59I1U6DWaBSilEhytzUg5u2apwNx?usp=sharing
	coniferyl aldehyde(R)	PRO 117; TYR 119	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1LWW78qGGaVyuPuMAs5MfM9JuGhJOuzP0?usp=sharing
	(+)-lariciresinol	ARG 103; ARG 103; GLH 116; GLN 102; GLN	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1haUb3wJ6S5-scLFEEJW7n8CPvJoWj99q?usp=sharing
		102; GLN 102; GLU 104; GLU 116	
TNF a	(-)-matairesinol _(I)	ARG 103; GLH 116; GLN 102; GLN 102; GLU 104; GLU 104; GLU 104; GLU	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1CxG09l4TzDnRX6ekFaAYhUhhAecSygbn?usp=sharing the state of the state
1η1-α		116	
	(-)-matairesinol _(R)	ARG 103; GLH 116; GLN 102; GLN 102; GLN 102; GLU 104; GLU 104; GLU	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1WS4eLXipQZ-ZfVetjYCH8N0ozmz6D_VC?usp=sharing
		104; GLU 116	
	(+)-pinoresinol	ARG 103; GLN 102; GLN 102; GLN 102; GLN 102; GLN 102; GLU 104; GLU	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1iAlVaGJw2gzdZt11PvC-cYH8KqbKVkLj?usp=sharing
		116; GLU 116; GLU 116; GLU 116; GLU 116; GLU 116; TYR 115	
	(-)-secoisolariciresinol	ARG 103; GLH 116; GLN 102; GLN 102; GLN 102; GLN 102; GLU 104; LYS	https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/14oCwUGAEgj4Olx7OrIgmEswZUUQm7kSG?usp=sharing
		98; PRO 100; TYR 115	
	(I): ideal	form; (R): representative form	
	* 701 1		

* The link leads to a folder containing two files: the structure of each inflammatory target with fixed balajaponin D and the evaluated ligand,

and images demonstrating the location of each residue.

APÊNDICE D – Filtro de busca para a seleção dos mediadores inflamatórios

Table 4S. Search filter for OM-related inflammatory targets.

PubMed-Medline* – Search filters

#1 Clinical condition (Mucositis): (Mucositis[TIAB] OR Mucositides[TIAB] OR "Oral Mucositis"[TIAB] OR "Mucositides, Oral"[TIAB] OR "Oral Mucositides"[TIAB] OR Oromucositis[TIAB] OR Oromucositides[TIAB] OR "Mucositis, Oral"[TIAB])

#2 Inflammatory mediators (Inflammation targets): (Cytokines[TIAB] OR "Chemokines"[TIAB] OR "Inflammatory mediators"[TIAB] OR "Inflammation Mediators"[TIAB] OR Prostaglandins[TIAB] OR "Mediators, Inflammation"[TIAB] OR "Mediators of Inflammation"[TIAB])

#3 Combined search: (#1 AND #2)

#4 Search limits: Filters: Clinical Trial, Randomized Controlled Trial, English

Database search was concluded in July 09, 2020, at 10:48.

APÊNDICE E – ESTRUTURA 3D DOS MEDIADORES INFLAMATÓRIOS RELACIONADOS À MUCOSITE ORAL (ALVOS)

Table 5S. 3D structure of OM-related inflammatory targets.

-

TARGETS	LINK*
CRP	https://drive.google.com/file/d/1bkBFCfp9BBrI-TJeqoBiNcmMLoMR3yjs/view?usp=sharing
EGF	https://drive.google.com/file/d/1wTkzMBy-gZvK8wtkWLFnY1bNA-bPAp6u/view?usp=sharing
IL-6	https://drive.google.com/file/d/1XDiL6l95HTXsFAjVhubMX_I3lYu_8cIq/view?usp=sharing
IL-1β	https://drive.google.com/file/d/1hIefrcNzhlcc64NOoGBD9-8YWrg8_jyA/view?usp=sharing
NF-κB	https://drive.google.com/file/d/1uzD1EyPHJK6LdwbbmWIII7LfdIpj1EXW/view?usp=sharing
P53	https://drive.google.com/file/d/1HSh_zNSPfwQiwUV2F4reQRnxSXEKWwBJ/view?usp=sharing
PUMA	https://drive.google.com/file/d/1jckolsOzlSkpoZNmqUbzra2TW0WCQDR1/view?usp=sharing
TNF-α	https://drive.google.com/file/d/1Uf34OP4hVEqunbp54Iasab-pslWArrls/view?usp=sharing

*The link leads to a video showing the inflammatory target.

APÊNDICE F – ESTRUTURA 3D DAS BIOMOLÉCULAS IDENTIFICADAS DA PO1 (LIGANTES)

Table 6S. 3D structure of identified OP1 biomolecules (ligands).

LIGANDS	LINK*
coniferyl alcohol _(I)	https://drive.google.com/file/d/1idDLmcZtVplMqJgee1TN_cQ_4JpVkJg4/view?usp=sharing
$coniferyl \ alcohol_{(R)}$	https://drive.google.com/file/d/15 XRGKgWRuzm2MTu226 C87 vPLUb4mBZeC/view?usp=sharing the standard s
coniferyl dehyde(I)	https://drive.google.com/file/d/1J7qtFDQYyj6TfJ5xbHFsUfeT8hYXsLGa/view?usp=sharing
coniferyl dehyde(R)	https://drive.google.com/file/d/1pj9_g0OEbYa74BB1HahPRQ5WZOSTtUs0/view?usp=sharing
(+)-lariciresinol	https://drive.google.com/file/d/1NdQ7tTqknZS9KGDRiUHYwfzUq3zV9fcM/view?usp=sharing
(-)-secoisolariciresinol	https://drive.google.com/file/d/1_qhGvlOCfblf-2CZ3AOCyazDjgoa2Y2D/view?usp=sharing
balajaponin D	https://drive.google.com/file/d/1CEf4gEBTwQGZXlxYMOFHg0GLjLCpOpcR/view?usp=sharingg100000000000000000000000000000000000
(+)-pinoresinol	https://drive.google.com/file/d/1PDU6ax1KJpjoUcFQBhbtzE997ECRZ1Va/view?usp=sharing
(-)-matairesinol _(I)	https://drive.google.com/file/d/1LaoPDVL2JRZ0fVeIb3IzUZWkXFiAoqFO/view?usp=sharing
(-)-matairesinol _(R)	https://drive.google.com/file/d/1v50nDSlCpHn36Kq-K5II6q4DxN4PIe3t/view?usp=sharing

(I): ideal form; (R): representative form

*The link leads to a video showing the ligand.

APÊNDICE G - SMILES DOS COMPOSTOS NO MOMENTO PRÉ-DOCKING

Table 7S. SMILES of the ligands at the pre-docking moment.

LIGANDS	SMILES PRE-DOCKING
coniferyl alcohol _(I)	C(=C\C/C=C/CO)(\[C@@H](C)O)/OC/tmp/T98XKS0
coniferyl alcohol _(R)	C(=C(\C)/O)(\CCCCCO)/OC/tmp/F0WMFDG
coniferyl dehyde(I)	C=CC=O/tmp/T0AKDZ0
coniferyl dehyde(R)	C(=C(\O)/[C@@H](C)OC)/C.C=CC=O/tmp/8QPXN08
(+)-lariciresinol	O1[C@@H]([C@H](C1)Cc1ccc(c(c1)OC)O)cO)c1ccc(c(c1)OC)O/tmp/1YAYZVR
(-)-secoisolariciresinol	[C@@H](Cc1ccc(c(c1)OC)O)([C@H](CO)Cc1cc(c(cc1)O)OC)CO/tmp/YJTTYB8
balajaponin D	Oclccc(cclOC)[C@H](O)[C@H](C/C=C/clccc(c(cl)OC)O)CO/tmp/S23JD00
(+)-pinoresinol	O1[C@@H]([C@H]([C@H](C1)Cc1cc(c(cc1)O)OC)C)c1ccc(c(c1)OC)O/tmp/T17V018
(-)-matairesinol _(I)	$[C@@H]1(COC(=O)[C@@H]1Cc1ccc(c(c1)OC)O)CC/C=C\C(=C\OC)\O/tmp/64RDYS0$
(-)-matairesinol _(R)	[C@@H]1(COC(=O)[C@@H]1Cc1ccc(c(c1)OC)O)CC/C=C\[C@@H](COC)O/tmp/2Q6CCMG

(I): ideal form; (R): representative form

APÊNDICE H - SMILES DOS COMPOSTOS NO MOMENTO PÓS-DOCKING

Table 8S. SMILES of the ligands at the post-docking moment.

LIGANDS	TARGET	S SMILES POST-DOCKING
coniferyl alcohol _(I)	EGF	[C@@H]((C@@H](C)O)(OC)/C=C/C=C/CO/tmp/WG7XHM0
	IL-1β	[C@@H]([C@@H](C)O)(OC)CC/C=C/CO/tmp/WPSHAN8
	IL-6	[C@@H]([C@@H](C)O)(OC)CC/C=C/CO/tmp/1VNZ32G
	NF-κB	[C@@H]([C@@H](C)O)(OC)CC/C=C/CO/tmp/WNBPTW0
	P53	[C@@H]([C@@H](C)O)(OC)CC/C=C/CO/tmp/1XCJ520
	PUMA	C(=C\C/C=C/CO)(/[C@@H](C)O)\OC/tmp/HET7PVR
	TNF-α	[C@@H]([C@@H](C)O)(OC)CC/C=C/CO/tmp/MQD6WBG
coniferyl alcohol _(R)	EGF	[C@H](CCCCCO)(OC)[C@H](C)O/tmp/RWCT3Y8
	IL-1β	[C@H](CCCCCO)(OC)[C@H](C)O/tmp/79SPC0G
	IL-6	[C@H](CCCCCO)(OC)[C@H](C)O/tmp/06EGQF8
	NF-κB	[C@H](CCCCCO)(OC)[C@@H](C)O/tmp/7E72BPR
	P53	[C@H](CCCCCO)(OC)[C@@H](C)O/tmp/XTRJCQR
	PUMA	[C@H](CCCCCO)(OC)[C@@H](C)O/tmp/T5FCCMG
	TNF-α	C(=C(\C)/O)(/CCCCCO)\OC/tmp/TES073R
coniferyl dehyde _(I)	EGF	C=CC=O/tmp/3PJZYTG
	IL-1β	C=CC=O/tmp/NABMDP8
	IL-6	C=CC=O/tmp/WKK5NRG
	NF-κB	C=CC=O/tmp/54C7998
	P53	C=CC=O/tmp/XZ490A8
	PUMA	C=CC=O/tmp/F9WRR5G
	TNF-α	C=CC=O/tmp/WP9ASQ8
coniferyl dehyde _(R)	EGF	C(=C)[C@H](O)[C@@H](C)OC.C=CC=O /tmp/4MJ7Z3G
	IL-1β	C(=C)[C@H](O)[C@@H](C)OC.C=CC=O/tmp/HE0PPX0
	IL-6	C(=C)[C@H](O)[C@@H](C)OC.C=CC=O/tmp/02EVMKG
	NF-κB	C(=C)[C@H](O)[C@@H](C)OC.C=CC=O/tmp/22CW48G
	P53	C(=C(\O)/[C@@H](C)OC)\C.C=CC=O/tmp/3TTXMHR
	PUMA	C(=C)[C@H](O)[C@@H](C)OC.C=CC=O/tmp/6XWF6RR
	TNF-α	C(=C)[C@H](O)[C@@H](C)OC.C=CC=O/tmp/ZMG917R

(-)-matairesinol ₍₁₎	EGF	[C@@H]1(COC(=O)[C@@H]1Cc1ccc(c(c1)OC)O)CCCC/C(=C/OC)/O/tmp/3GKA0E8
	IL-1β	[C@@H]1(COC(=O)[C@@H]1Cc1ccc(c(c1)OC)O)C/C=C/C/C(=C/OC)/O/tmp/CRYY5KR
	IL-6	[C@@H]1(COC(=O)[C@@H]1Cc1ccc(c(c1)OC)O)CC/C=C/C(=C/OC)/O/tmp/X065YQ8
	NF-κB	[C@@H]1(COC(=O)[C@@H]1Cc1ccc(c(c1)OC)O)C/C=C\C/C(=C/OC)/O/tmp/CSCESNR
	P53	[C@@H]1(COC(=O)[C@@H]1Cc1ccc(c(c1)OC)O)CCCC/C(=C/OC)/O/tmp/ZJVWYCG
	PUMA	[C@@H]1(COC(=O)[C@@H]1Cc1ccc(c(c1)OC)O)CC/C=C/C(=C/OC)/O/tmp/VCKERGG
	TNF-α	[C@@H]1(COC(=O)[C@@H]1Cc1ccc(c(c1)OC)O)CCCC/C(=C/OC)/O/tmp/MKVASY8
	EGF	[C@@H]1(COC(=O)[C@@H]1Cc1ccc(c(c1)OC)O)CCCC[C@@H](COC)O/tmp/BEN3ENR
	EGF IL-1β	[C@@H]1(COC(=O)[C@@H]1Cc1ccc(c(c1)OC)O)CCCC[C@@H](COC)O/tmp/BEN3ENR [C@@H]1(COC(=O)[C@@H]1Cc1ccc(c(c1)OC)O)CCCC[C@@H](COC)O/tmp/MARYMN0
	EGF IL-1β IL-6	[C@@H]1(COC(=O)[C@@H]1Cc1ccc(c(c1)OC)O)CCCC[C@@H](COC)O/tmp/BEN3ENR [C@@H]1(COC(=O)[C@@H]1Cc1ccc(c(c1)OC)O)CCCC[C@@H](COC)O/tmp/MARYMN0 [C@@H]1(COC(=O)[C@@H]1Cc1ccc(c(c1)OC)O)CCCC[C@@H](COC)O/tmp/CYK4X90
(-)-matairesinol _(R)	EGF IL-1β IL-6 NF-κB	[C@@H]1(COC(=O)[C@@H]1Cc1ccc(c(c1)OC)O)CCCC[C@@H](COC)O/tmp/BEN3ENR [C@@H]1(COC(=O)[C@@H]1Cc1ccc(c(c1)OC)O)CCCC[C@@H](COC)O/tmp/MARYMN0 [C@@H]1(COC(=O)[C@@H]1Cc1ccc(c(c1)OC)O)CCCC[C@@H](COC)O/tmp/CYK4X90 [C@@H]1(COC(=O)[C@@H]1Cc1ccc(c(c1)OC)O)CCCC[C@@H](COC)O/tmp/ZWM8QZR
(-)-matairesinol _(R)	EGF IL-1β IL-6 NF-κB P53	[C@@H]1(COC(=O)[C@@H]1Cc1ccc(c(c1)OC)O)CCCC[C@@H](COC)O/tmp/BEN3ENR [C@@H]1(COC(=O)[C@@H]1Cc1ccc(c(c1)OC)O)CCCC[C@@H](COC)O/tmp/MARYMN0 [C@@H]1(COC(=O)[C@@H]1Cc1ccc(c(c1)OC)O)CCCC[C@@H](COC)O/tmp/CYK4X90 [C@@H]1(COC(=O)[C@@H]1Cc1ccc(c(c1)OC)O)CCCC[C@@H](COC)O/tmp/ZWM8QZR [C@@H]1(COC(=O)[C@@H]1Cc1ccc(c(c1)OC)O)CCCC[C@@H](COC)O/tmp/BF2TW8R
(-)-matairesinol _(R)	EGF IL-1β IL-6 NF-κB P53 PUMA	$\label{eq:constraint} \begin{split} & [C@@H]1(COC(=O)[C@@H]1Cc1ccc(c(c1)OC)O)CCCC[C@@H](COC)O/tmp/BEN3ENR\\ & [C@@H]1(COC(=O)[C@@H]1Cc1ccc(c(c1)OC)O)CCCC[C@@H](COC)O/tmp/MARYMN0\\ & [C@@H]1(COC(=O)[C@@H]1Cc1ccc(c(c1)OC)O)CCCC[C@@H](COC)O/tmp/CYK4X90\\ & [C@@H]1(COC(=O)[C@@H]1Cc1ccc(c(c1)OC)O)CCCC[C@@H](COC)O/tmp/ZWM8QZR\\ & [C@@H]1(COC(=O)[C@@H]1Cc1ccc(c(c1)OC)O)CCCC[C@@H](COC)O/tmp/BF2TW8R\\ & [C@@H]1(COC(=O)[C@@H]1Cc1ccc(c(c1)OC)O)CCCC[C@@H](COC)O/tmp/ZPEYJ8R \end{split}$
(-)-matairesinol _(R)	EGF IL-1β IL-6 NF-κB P53 PUMA TNF-α	$\label{eq:constraint} \begin{split} & [C@@H]1(COC(=O)[C@@H]1Cc1ccc(c(c1)OC)O)CCCC[C@@H](COC)O/tmp/BEN3ENR\\ & [C@@H]1(COC(=O)[C@@H]1Cc1ccc(c(c1)OC)O)CCCC[C@@H](COC)O/tmp/CYK4X90\\ & [C@@H]1(COC(=O)[C@@H]1Cc1ccc(c(c1)OC)O)CCCC[C@@H](COC)O/tmp/ZWM8QZR\\ & [C@@H]1(COC(=O)[C@@H]1Cc1ccc(c(c1)OC)O)CCCC[C@@H](COC)O/tmp/BF2TW8R\\ & [C@@H]1(COC(=O)[C@@H]1Cc1ccc(c(c1)OC)O)CCCC[C@@H](COC)O/tmp/ZPEYJ8R\\ & [C@@H]1(COC(=O)[C@@H]1Cc1ccc(c(c1)OC)O)CC/C=C/[C@@H](COC)O/tmp/BF2TGZ0\\ \end{split} $

(I): ideal form; (R): representative form

APÊNDICE I – METODOLOGIA ADOTADA NA ESTRATÉGIA I: DOCKING DE APENAS UM LIGANTE

PHASES	LINK*
1 ^a phase: the selection of one chain in	It can be realized in the 'txt' archive or through the MGLTools software:
inflammatory target;	https://drive.google.com/file/d/1urCLxBsViSRVKES8ZsJ5cFi1RCBwKQq1/view?usp=sharing
2 ^a phase: exclusion of water molecules	It can be realized in the 'txt' archive or through the MGLTools software:
in the inflammatory target;	https://drive.google.com/file/d/1JOx6VigkjVvmErqMOQNQH-
	3F413IMAD0/view?usp=sharing
3 ^a phase: addition of hydrogen (H);	It is realized in MGLTools software; it is indicated to add all types of H since the nonpolar H
	will be excluded in the save process of the structure:
	https://drive.google.com/file/d/1Cn-YpUfIK4Mu1q_aDDVCvKi8daAXIqd6/view?usp=sharing
4 ^a phase: construction of Gridbox:	It is realized in MGLTools software:
containing all spatial information of	https://drive.google.com/file/d/1f6TeCp5L34s8xMN_Q23snxUxhTxUU1eW/view?usp=sharing
inflammatory target that should be analyzed in the docking);	https://drive.google.com/file/d/1js8EfqgCbIuZi0lC6jlf7ccyTWgZqmeX/view?usp=sharing
5 ^a phase: addition of ligand and	It is realized in MGLTools software:
detection of torsion;	https://drive.google.com/file/d/1durxaPmIh4Ey6u_Qr2EwSmWRk61WjCzs/view?usp=sharing
6 ^a phase: construction of 'config'	It is realized in MGLTools software:
archive: there will be the information of	https://drive.google.com/file/d/1SG51HSm75GQQCRSLtEEr1xzZCgYfvT0b/view?usp=sharing
inflammatory target and ligand, the spatial information of the target, the final	https://drive.google.com/file/d/1FN53X3Zs_clhpApXx3P8FxZA-nBpIyrh/view?usp=sharing
archive that will be generated at the end	
of the docking, the seed of the	
simulation, and the number of times that	
docking was realized;	
7ª phase: docking.	It is realized in the Vina software, with the 'config' archive:
	https://drive.google.com/file/d/1uBLwC-acYhbugsxHreYa6QB9BJIOW8Sn/view?usp=sharing
	The results can be visualized in the MGLTools software:
	https://drive.google.com/file/d/1VLrkWDGSbOZ9CZNs_gOBII0IHf1Tv0Ov/view?usp=sharing

Table 9S. The methodology adopted in Strategy I: one ligand docking.

*The link leads to a picture that illustrates each phase.

_

ANEXO A – SUBMISSÃO À REVISTA Journal of Medicinal Chemistry

15/07/2021

ScholarOne Manuscripts

Journal of Medicinal Chemistry

Home

Submission Confirmation

Print

Thank you for your submission

Submitted to

Journal of Medicinal Chemistry

Manuscript ID jm-2021-01266u

Title

In silico evaluation of the interaction of organic propolis molecules with inflammatory targets involved in oral mucositis.

Authors

de Souza, Mikaela Lucinda Rosalen, Pedro de Oliveira, Carine Santos, Leandro Henrique, Tiago da Silveira, Nelson Paranaíba, Lívia

Date Submitted

15-Jul-2021

Author Dashboard